
1 
 

 
BRUNSWICK TOWN COUNCIL 

Agenda 
August 1, 2016 

7:00 P.M. 
Council Chambers 

Town Hall 
85 Union Street 

 
Roll Call of Members 
 
Acknowledgement of Meeting Notice 
 
Pledge of Allegiance 
 
Adjustments to Agenda 
 
CONSENT AGENDA 

a) Approval of the minutes of July 18, 2016 
 
Public Comments 
 
Correspondence 
 
COMMITTEE REPORTS 

• Bicycle & Pedestrian Advisory Committee 
• Finance Committee 
• Human Rights Task Force 
• Rivers & Coastal Waters Commission 

 
MANAGER’S REPORT 
a) Council Project Tracking Report 
b) Nomination papers for Council and School Board 
c) Report by Larissa Vigue Picard, Executive Director of the Pejepscot Historical Society 

 
PUBLIC HEARING 
 
85. The Town Council will hear public comments on proposed amendments to the 

Municipal Code of Ordinance that would increase ambulance fees, and will take any 
appropriate action. (Manager) 

 
HEARING/ACTION 

    
 

NEW BUSINESS 
 
86.   The Town Council will consider setting a public hearing on a proposal to increase 
 existing Mere Point Wastewater District fees, and to amend the ordinance to list the 



2 
 

 Sewage Treatment rates within Appendix B, Master Schedule of Revenues, Charges, 
 Fees and Fines, and will take any appropriate action.  (Manager) 

           ACTION 
 

 
87.  The Town Council will consider adopting “An Order Authorizing the Town Manager 
 to Execute An Interlocal Cooperation Agreement to Provide Emergency Dispatch 
 Services to the Town of Freeport” and will take any appropriate action.    (Manager) 

ACTION 
 
 
88.   The Town Council will consider appointment of a Brunswick representative to the 
 MMA Legislative Policy Committee, and will take any appropriate action.  (Manager) 
 

ACTION 
 
 
89.   The Town Council will have an opportunity to vote for a representative to serve on the 
 MMA Legislative Policy Committee (LPC) for 2016-2018, and will take any 
 appropriate action.  (Manager)  

ACTION 
 
 
90.  The Town Council will have an opportunity to vote on the annual election of the 
 proposed MMA Vice President and municipal officials to serve on the Executive 
 Committee, and will take any appropriate action.  (Manager) 

 ACTION 
 

 
91.       (ADDED) The Town Council to consider a letter from the Topsham Design Advisory 
 Committee (DAC), dated July 27, 2016, requesting that the Town Council of 
 Brunswick appoint representatives to the DAC, and take any appropriate action.   
  
 
 

 
 

INDIVIDUALS NEEDING AUXILIARY AIDS FOR EFFECTIVE 
COMMUNICATION SHOULD CONTACT  

THE TOWN MANAGER’S OFFICE AT 725-6659 (TDD 725-5521) 
 
 
  



3 
 

 
Brunswick Town Council 

Agenda  
August 1, 2016 

Council Notes and Suggested Motions 
 
CONSENT AGENDA 
a) Approval of the Minutes of July 18, 2016: A copy of the minutes is included in your 

packet.   
 
The Council has the option to remove any item from the Consent Agenda to be 
considered separately. 
 

Suggested motion:  
Motion to approve the Consent Agenda. 
 

Public Comments 
 
CORRESPONDENCE 
 
This is the opportunity for Councilors to share correspondence. 
 
COMMITTEE REPORTS 

 
Councilors on the above committees will provide brief updates of recent meetings. 
Councilors may also report on any other committee updates. 
 
MANAGER’S REPORT: 
a) Project Tracking Report:  The Council will receive a monthly report on projects being 

tracked.  A copy of the project list is included in your packet. 
b) Nomination papers for Council and School Board: Nomination papers for Town Council 

and School Board became available July 29, 2016 and need to be returned no later than 
Friday, September 9th, 2016.  Districts 1, 2 and 6 for both the Town Council and School 
Board will be up for election in November. 

c) Report by Larissa Vigue Picard, Executive Director of the Pejepscot Historical Society: 
 

PUBLIC HEARING 
 
85.   This is the required public hearing on amendments to the Emergency Medical Services 
 fees in the Master Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, Appendix B to the 
 Town of Brunswick Municipal Code of Ordinances.  Finance Director Julie Henze and 
 Chief Ken Brillant will be available to answer questions. An updated memo 
 from Finance Director Julie Henze with supporting documentation is included in your 
 packet. 
 

Option for the Council if they choose to vote this evening - suggested motion:  
Motion to suspend the Council Rules to allow the Council to vote on this item at this 
meeting. 



4 
 

 
Suggested motion: Motion to adopt amendments to the Emergency Medical Services 
fees in the Master Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, Appendix B, 
Chapter 9 of the Town of Brunswick Municipal Code of Ordinances. 
 

86. The Council will consider setting a public hearing for August 15, 2016 on a proposal 
to increase Mere Point Wastewater District Fees, which have not been updated since 
the District was built by the town in 1992-1993, and to amend the Municipal Code of 
Ordinances to list the Sewage Treatment rates within Appendix B, Master Schedule of 
Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, as proposed.  A memo from Manager Eldridge, a 
memo from Finance Director Julie Henze and Public Works Director John Foster, as 
well as existing and proposed rate structures, ordinance changes, user charge 
calculations and a map are included in your packet.    

 
 Suggested Motion: 
 Motion to set a public hearing for August 15, 2016 to consider amendments to the 

Municipal Code of Ordinances for  Mere Point Wastewater District Fees as proposed 
and to list the Sewage Treatment rates within Appendix B, Master Schedule of 
Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, as proposed.   

 
 

87.   The Town Council will consider adopting “An Order Authorizing the Town 
 Manager to Execute An Interlocal Cooperation Agreement to Provide Emergency 
 Dispatch Services to the Town of Freeport” and will take any appropriate action.  A 
 memo from Manager Eldridge, as well as the proposed order and agreement are 
 included in the packet.  
 
 Suggested Motion: 
 Motion to adopt  “An Order Authorizing the Town Manager to Execute An Interlocal 
 Cooperation Agreement to Provide Emergency Dispatch Services to the Town of 
 Freeport”.  
 
 A memo from Manager Eldridge, containing summaries of items 88, 89 and 90, is 
 included in the packet. 
 
88.  This item asks the Council to appoint a Brunswick representative to the MMA 
 Legislative Policy Committee.  The Brunswick appointment does not have a firm 
 deadline, but the sooner a representative is appointed, the sooner they may serve.    
 

 Suggested Motion:   
 Motion to appoint _____________ as the Brunswick representative for the MMA 
 2016-2018 Legislative Policy Committee. 

 
89.   This item asks the Council to vote for the 2016-2018 Legislative Policy Committee 
 member for our area.  This is an uncontested race for Kristi Eiane,  Harpswell, but a 
 write-in is allowed, if the candidate is willing to serve if elected. The ballot 
 needs to be returned to MMA by August 5.  Copies of the ballot, candidate 
 profiles, MMA memos, and the LPC handbook are included in your packet. 



5 
 

 
 Suggested Motion:   
 Motion to support __________ for the MMA 2016-2018 Legislative Policy 
 Committee. 

 
90.   The Council may vote for the MMA Vice-President and Executive Committee 
 Members. A copy of their biographies and information from MMA is included in your 
 packet. 
 

 Suggested Motion: 
 Motion to approve the slate of nominations for the MMA Vice President and 
 Executive Committee Members as presented on the attached ballot. 

 
 

Suggested motion: 
Motion to adjourn the meeting. 



 
 

 
CONSENT AGENDA - A 
BACK UP MATERIALS 



Draft 
BRUNSWICK TOWN COUNCIL 

Minutes 
July18, 2016 

7:00 P.M. 
Council Chambers 

Town Hall 
85 Union Street 

 
Councilors Present: W. David Watson, John M. Perreault, Daniel E. Harris, Jane F. Millett, 

Sarah E. Brayman, Kathy Wilson and Alison Harris 
 
Councilors Absent: Stephen S. Walker, Suzan Wilson  
 
Town Staff Present: John S. Eldridge, III, Town Manager; Elin M. Gould, Deputy Town 

Clerk; Derek Scrapchansky, Assistant Town Manager; Branden 
Perreault, Deputy Finance Director; Terry Goan, Police Officer, and TV 
video crew 

 
Chair Brayman called the meeting to order, asked the Clerk for roll call, acknowledged the 
meeting was properly noticed, and led the pledge of allegiance.   
 
Adjustments to Agenda   
 
CONSENT AGENDA (This item was discussed at 7:01 p.m.) 
a) Approval of the minutes of June 6, 2016  
b) Approval of the minutes of June 20, 2016 
c) Approval of the minutes of June 23, 2016  
d) Approval of a Quitclaim Deed for the mobile home on land depicted as Map 022 Lot 054 

Sub 000 Typ 096 
e) Approval of a Quitclaim Deed for the mobile home on land depicted as Map 051 Lot 001 

Sub 000 Typ 446 
f) Approval of a Quitclaim Deed for the mobile home on land depicted as Map 051 Lot 001 

Sub 000 Typ 449 
g) Approval of a Quitclaim Deed for the mobile home on land depicted as Map 051 Lot 001 

Sub 000 Typ 417 
h) Approval of a Quitclaim Deed for the mobile home on land depicted as Map 027 Lot 016 

Sub 00F Typ 000 
i) Approval of a Quitclaim Deed for the mobile home on land depicted as Map 051 Lot 001 

Sub 000 Typ 035 
j) Approval of a Quitclaim Deed for the mobile home on land depicted as Map 051 Lot 001 

Sub 000 Typ 330 
k) Approval of a Quitclaim Deed for the mobile home on land depicted as Map 022 Lot 054 

Sub 000 Typ 050 
 
Manager Eldridge explained items d-k. 
 
Councilor Perreault moved, Councilor Watson seconded, to approve the consent agenda.  
The motion carried with six (6) yeas.  Councilor Millett was absent from the room at the 
time of the vote. 
 



Town Council Minutes 
July 18, 2016 
Page 2 
 
 
(Copies of the Quitclaim Deeds will be attached to the official minutes.) 
 
Public Comments (This item was discussed at 7:03 p.m.) 
 
There were no comments from the public. 
 
Correspondence (This item was discussed at 7:04 p.m.) 
 
Councilor Perreault received correspondence regarding off premise signage, which he has 
previously brought up, and complaints about NNEPRA; the plug is not being used when a train 
is idling, and that noise ricochets off the new building into the nearby neighborhood when a 
train goes by. 
 
Councilor Kathy Wilson received information that she passed along about a prescription salve 
available at the pharmacy at MidCoast Hospital that helps with browntail moth rash.  She also 
invited folks to attend an event at Curtis Library at 7:00 p.m. Tuesday evening, a true story of a 
Maine transgender girl and her family’s journey. 
 
Councilor Alison Harris said the new Brunswick-Topsham Land Trust map, Brunswick 
Outdoors-Recreation and Open Spaces, has been very popular at the visitor’s center.  She also 
received correspondence about the failure to yield by many vehicles at the intersection of Mill 
Street, Route 1, and Stanwood Street. 
 
Councilor Perreault announced that the play “Addams Family” would be performed at Orion 
Theater in Topsham from July 28 through July 30. 
 
COMMITTEE REPORTS (This item was discussed at 7:10 p.m.) 

• Cable TV Committee 
• Conservation Commission 
• Master Plan Implementation Committee 
• Recycling & Sustainability Committee 
• Teen Center Advisory Committee 

 
Reports were given on the Cable TV, Master Plan Implementation, and Recycling and 
Sustainability Committees. 
 
MANAGER’S REPORT 
a) Report from Brunswick Sewer District (This item was discussed at 7:14 p.m.) 

 
Leonard Blanchette, Brunswick Sewer District General Manager, provided an update on the 
Sewer District’s current activities and long-term plans. 
 
Several questions and clarifications were asked of Mr. Blanchette by Chair Brayman and 
Councilors Perreault, Watson, Millett, and Kathy Wilson, to which he responded. 
 
(A copy of Mr. Blanchette’s report will be attached to the official minutes.) 



Town Council Minutes 
July 18, 2016 
Page 3 
 
 
b) Financial update (This item was discussed at 7:28 p.m.) 

 
Manager Eldridge provided this end of fiscal year update and responded to questions from 
Councilor Alison Harris, Councilor Perreault, and Chair Brayman. 
 
c) Project Tracking Report (This item was discussed at 7:33 p.m.) 
 
Manager Eldridge provided this monthly update and responded to questions and comments 
from Councilor Alison Harris and Chair Brayman. 

 
d) Nomination papers availability (This item was discussed at 7:44 p.m.) 

 
Deputy Town Clerk Elin Gould announced that nomination papers for Districts 1, 2 and 6 for 
both Council and School Board will be available beginning July 29, 2016, and must be returned 
to the Town Clerk’s office by September 9, 2016. 

 
e) Revaluation update (This item was discussed at 7:44 p.m.) 

 
Manager Eldridge said a mailing will be going out on a staggered basis to all property owners 
regarding the revaluation.  He also responded to a question from Councilor Watson. 

 
f) Frank J. Wood Bridge update (This item was discussed at 7:47 p.m.) 

 
Manager Eldridge updated the Council and public on recent activity related to the Frank J. 
Wood Bridge and said that the answers to questions that had been posed will be available at the 
next meeting. 

 
g) Tax-acquired property sale update (This item was discussed at 7:51 p.m.) 

 
Manager Eldridge updated the Council and public on three tax-acquired properties being 
offered for sale by the Town and said he received a letter from the previous owner of 946 Mere 
Point Road about buying back that property. 
 
Councilor Alison Harris and Councilor Millett asked questions, to which Manager Eldridge 
responded. 

 
(Copies of the notice of sale and bid forms will be attached to the official minutes.) 

 
h) Stop sign installation on Board Road (This item was discussed at 7:56 p.m.) 

 
Manager Eldridge briefly explained this item.   

 
(A copy of the request, an email from Chief Rizzo, and the work request will be attached to the 
official minutes.) 
 
i) Miller Point update (This item was discussed at 7:57 p.m.) 
 



Town Council Minutes 
July 18, 2016 
Page 4 
 
 
Manager Eldridge updated the Council and public on this shoreline stabilization project, its 
redesign, and the filing of an amended plan with the Maine Department of Environmental 
Protection. 
 
j) Zoning Ordinance Rewrite Update (This item was discussed at 7:58 p.m.) 
 
Manager Eldridge provided this update. 
 
Chair Brayman asked a question, to which Manager Eldridge and Councilor Alison Harris 
responded. 
 
(A copy of a memo from Manager Eldridge providing an overview of the Manager’s Report 
will be attached to the official minutes.) 
 
Councilor Watson and Manager Eldridge briefly discussed a proposed Town Manager show on 
TV3. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING 
 
82.  The Town Council will hear public comments on a renewal special amusement 

license application for Ebenezer’s Brew Pub and will take any appropriate action.  
(Manager) (This item was discussed at 7:59 p.m.) 

 
 Special Amusement 
 1337 Beer LLC 
 D/B/A:  Ebenezer’s Brew Pub  Christopher & Jennifer Lively 
 112 Pleasant Street  
 
 
Chair Brayman opened the public hearing.   
 
Manager Eldridge gave the details of the application and recommended approval. 
 
Chair Brayman closed the public hearing. 
 
Councilor Kathy Wilson moved, Councilor Millett seconded, to approve the special 
amusement license application for Ebenezer’s Brew Pub, located at 112 Pleasant Street.  
The motion carried with seven (7) yeas. 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
 
83. The Town Council will consider setting a public hearing on proposed amendments 

to the Municipal Code of Ordinance that would increase ambulance fees and will 
take any appropriate action.  (Manager) (This item was discussed at 8:02 p.m.) 

 
Manager Eldridge explained this item. 
 



Town Council Minutes 
July 18, 2016 
Page 5 
 
 
There were several questions and comments by Chair Brayman, Councilor Perreault, Councilor 
Watson, Councilor Millett, and Councilor Kathy Wilson, regarding the fees and policy.  
 
Councilor Dan Harris identified a discrepancy between the amounts in the memo and in 
Appendix B, which will be corrected. 
 
Chair Brayman moved, Councilor Millett seconded, to set a public hearing for August 1,                                    
2016, on proposed amendments to the Municipal Code of Ordinance that would increase 
ambulance fees.   
 
Discussion continued among Councilor Perreault, Councilor Millett, Councilor Watson, 
Councilor Kathy Wilson, Councilor Dan Harris, Chair Brayman, and Manager Eldridge. 
 
Richard Fisco, 2 Lincoln Street, said this is not finished being studied, is unclear, and should 
not have come out of committee. 
 
VOTE ON MOTION: 
Chair Brayman moved, Councilor Millett seconded, to set a public hearing for August 1,                                    
2016, on proposed amendments to the Municipal Code of Ordinance that would increase 
ambulance fees.  The motion carried with seven (7) yeas. 
 
(Copies of memos from Manager Eldridge and Finance Director Julie Henze will be attached 
to the official minutes.) 
 
84. The Town Council will consider appointments to the Town’s Boards and 

Committees, and will take any appropriate action. (Appointments Committee) 
(This item was discussed at 8:34 p.m.) 

 
Councilor Kathy Wilson, Appointments Committee Chair, made the following nominations: 
 
Bicycle and Pedestrian Committee 
Blaine Moore - balance of a term to expire 6/1/2018 
 
Recycling and Sustainability Committee 
Marian Haughwout - balance of a term to expire 1/1/2019 
 
The Council unanimously supported the appointment of those nominated. 
 
Councilor Watson moved, Councilor Kathy Wilson seconded, to adjourn the meeting.  
The motion carried with seven (7) yeas. 
 
The meeting adjourned at 8:36 p.m. 
 
PLEASE NOTE:  THESE MINUTES ARE ACTION MINUTES.  THE ENTIRE 
MEETING CAN BE VIEWED AT WWW.BRUNSWICKME.ORG.  
 
 



Town Council Minutes 
July 18, 2016 
Page 6 
 
 
 
 
Elin M. Gould 
Deputy Town Clerk 
July 19, 2016 
 

August 1, 2016 
Date of Approval 

 
___________________________ 

Council Chair 
 
  



Town Council Minutes 
July 18, 2016 
Page 7 
 
 

 



 
 

 
MANAGER’S REPORT - A 
BACK UP MATERIALS 
 



Town	of	Brunswick	‐	Open	Projects	(Council)

Task Title Priority Status Description

Administration

Miller Point Project140

Current Update:

Completed Staff/Public Review Meeting on 6/27
Applicant filed updated plan with MDEP
Need to complete vegetation agreement

7/15/2016

1 - Now! In Progress Review of Shoreline Stabilization Project

Comments: Due/Days/%: 8/1/2016 90%4

Mere Point Property 946130

Current Update:

Site walks held on July 9th and July 13th.  Committees continue 
to deliberate.
Letter of July 12th from Richard Nudd requesting opportunity to 
reacquire property.

7/25/2016

1 - Now! In Progress Review Public Uses for Property

Comments:

Distribute to Committees for Review:
Planning Board
Conservation Commission
Rivers and Coastal Waters
Marine Resources
Parks and Recreation

Prepare economic analysis

Due/Days/%: 8/18/2016 33%21

Freeport Dispatch Contract108

Current Update:

Completed contract negotiations for five year extension.  
Proposed agreement to be submitted at August 1 Town Council 
meeting.  Granted extension while in negotiations.

7/13/2016

1 - Now! In Progress Negotiate Contract Extension.

Comments:

Negotiate extension of agreement.
Contract expired on June 30, 2016.

Due/Days/%: 8/31/2016 90%34

7/28/2016 11:59:44 AM Page 1 of 19



Task Title Priority Status Description

Tax-Acquired Property145

Current Update:

Three properties advertised for sale by bids due August 1st.  On 
4/19/16, Council set final re-acquisition date for original owners 
as 6/30/16, sale date as 8/1/16.

7/25/2016

1 - Now! In Progress Disposition of tax-acquired property

Comments:

Review and determination of disposition of properties acquired 
through nonpayment of taxes.  TM presented list of 11 
properties to Town Council 4/16/16.

Due/Days/%: 10/1/2016 75%65

Wood Pond Village127

Current Update:

LOC renewed by Camden National Bank 
$100,000 through June 1, 2017
Developer reports negotiations with contractors.  Advised that 
improvements must be completed this year. 7/25/2016 email to 
TM: Developer Tom Cole says earthwork is bid and lined up.  
Paving work is lined up.

7/26/2016

1 - Now! In Progress Improvements required by Consent Agreement

Comments:

Need to complete the improvements specified in the 2010 
Consent Agreement.

Due/Days/%: 10/1/2016 50%65

Town Hall Trim Work15

Current Update:

Est. $200K
Presented to Town Council 5/5/16;
Public Hearing 5/16/16;
 Bond Ordinance approval 6/6/16
Called Guy Lebrecque (207) 774-4441 from CWS to inquire 
about preparing spec for RFP.

7/26/2016

2 - High In Progress Develop Specifications and Bid Project
Bond Ordinance for Funding

Comments:

Developing specifications.
Developing bond ordinance.
Met with John Foster, TM, and rep for Warren Construction to 
discuss scope of work and suggestions for bid process.
Estimate provided by Town Engineer for complete R&R of Trim.
PowerPoint and bond ordinance developed for council 
approval. (5/5/16 packet)

Due/Days/%: 8/1/2016 25%4

7/28/2016 11:59:45 AM Page 2 of 19



Task Title Priority Status Description

Cumberland Farms Demolition142

Current Update:

PWD recently coordinated with CMP to remove utility pole and 
equipment. PWD obtaining a hazardous material inventory prior 
to demolition.

7/26/2016

2 - High In Progress Demolition of Cumberland Farms Building

Comments:

Review hazardous materials abatement.
Sell-off equipment.
Prepare and Execute Demolition Plan.

Due/Days/%: 9/1/2016 20%35

Committee Coordination35

Current Update:

Need to schedule meeting with committees to discuss 
collaboration.

4/1/2016

2 - High In Developm Meeting with Committee Chairs to Discuss Priorities, 
Coordination, and Resources

Comments:

Need to coordinate committees on projects and use of 
resources and staffing.

Due/Days/%: 9/1/2016 10%35

Cable TV Franchise Negotiations29

Current Update:

Model franchise agreement to replace Brunswick agreement.

6/1 Discussion with Jay Somers on dark fiber request.

6/1/2016

2 - High In Progress Negotiate New Franchise Agreement

Comments:

12/21/2015 - Councilor Watson suggested that incoming 
Councilor Alison Harris would be a logic choice to replace 
outgoing Councilor Richardson on the negotiating team.
 
7/27/2015 - John Eldridge negotiated an extension for three 
years to March 31, 2017 and notified Council in an email.
 
The Cable Franchise Negotiation Subcommittee consists of Ben 
Duffy (Citizen Rep), David Watson (Town Council Rep 1),  John 
Richardson (Town Council Rep 2), Bryan Cobb (IT/Cable 
Manager), John Eldridge (Town Manager), Derek Scrapchansky 
(Assistant Town Manager).

Due/Days/%: 10/1/2016 50%65

7/28/2016 11:59:45 AM Page 3 of 19



Task Title Priority Status Description

Riverside Cemetery70

Current Update:

Working with Town Attorney on legal transfer of assets from 
Riverside Cemetery Association to Town of Brunswick.  Also 
requested Town Attorney to determine how to legally transfer 
responsibility and ownership to another association/entity.  This 
includes a detailed process of transfer and the steps necessary 
for an organization to assume custody and commence 
operations.

7/26/2016

2 - High In Progress Re-establish Riverside Cemetery Corporation

Comments:

Review the legal options with Town Attorney.  Time consuming 
and potentially expensive process.

Due/Days/%: 12/31/2016 25%156

Human Rights Task Force64

Current Update:

Task force continues to meet.  Last met on July 20th.

Meeting with churches scheduled for 6/3

7/25/2016

3 - Normal In Progress Assign task force to look into issues of race and 
gender.

Comments:

Task force established.
Meeting regularly since January.

Due/Days/%: 6/30/2016 50%-28

Streetlight Policy and Reduction Plan26

Current Update:

Draft of street lighting policy in development.  In June met with 
Larry Bartlett, Bartlett Design to review street lighting analysis 
and policy he developed for Freeport.  Discussed policy options 
for Brunswick, Larry agreed to review draft policy and provide 
comments to the town.

7/1/2016

3 - Normal In Progress Develop Streetlight reduction plan

Comments:

Develop street light policy based on traffic and pedestrian 
safety.
Preliminary to street light reduction plan. 

Summary of cost/benefits
Policy on placement of streetlights
Trial sections of town.

Due/Days/%: 10/1/2016 50%65

7/28/2016 11:59:45 AM Page 4 of 19



Task Title Priority Status Description

PILOT123

Current Update: 5/26/2016

3 - Normal In Progress Investigate PILOTs throughout Maine and other 
states

Comments:

Review the use of PILOTs

Due/Days/%: 10/1/2016 10%65

Cook's Corner Road Improvements 
and TIF

3

Current Update:

Held June 22nd meeting with stakeholders and district 
councilors.  Stakeholder have expressed desire to resume 
conversations about private development and public 
improvements.

7/13/2016

3 - Normal In Progress Cook's Corner Road Improvements; connection of 
Gurnet Rd to Wal-Mart; Connections to Brunswick 
Landing; Traffic Signals

Comments:

Prepare engineering analysis and cost estimates
Coordinate extinguishment of cross easements
Develop TIF funding model
Develop bond ordinance

Deferred due to pending sale of DDR properties

Due/Days/%: 12/31/2016 50%156

Council Rules Committee97

Current Update: 4/15/2016

3 - Normal In Progress Rules Committee to Review and Update Council Rules

Comments:

Draft a committee charge
Charge written; committee appointed.
Guidance is to review rules to determine how to make the 
language more clear and understandable while reducing 
redundancy from within the document.

Due/Days/%: 12/31/2016 25%156

Brown Tail Moth128

Current Update:

Request consideration of spraying and other alternatives.

6/17/2016

3 - Normal Requested Investigate and Implement Mitigation Strategies

Comments: Due/Days/%: 12/31/2016 0%156

7/28/2016 11:59:45 AM Page 5 of 19



Task Title Priority Status Description

Downeaster Idling31

Current Update:

No recent activity.  NNEPRA believes the layover facility will 
resolve this issue.

1/20/2016

5 - Defer Deferred Reduce Idle Time for Downeaster

Comments:

Meet with NNEPRA and Amtrak.
Explore Options.
 
Need to discuss cold weather options.
Anti-idling bill in legislature.  Meet with NNEPRA and Amtrak.

Due/Days/%: 12/31/2016 90%156

Solar Installation at Rec Center32

Current Update:

New pricing received on 3/2.  Evaluating.
Complications with roof mounting design have forced 
reevaluation.  Scheduling will now be difficult for roofers.

4/28/2016

5 - Defer Deferred Explore Solar Installation at Recreation Center

Comments:

See attached memos and Gantt chart.

See attached project details.

Due/Days/%: 12/31/2016 85%156

Plastic Bag Reduction Ordinance129

Current Update:

Awaiting a draft from Recycling and Sustainability  Committee.  
No longer considering a November referendum

7/25/2016

5 - Defer Deferred Ordnance to Reduce Use of Plastic Bags in Retail

Comments:

Proposed by Bring Your Own Bag (BYOB)
Reviewed by Recycling and Sustainability Committee

Due/Days/%: 12/31/2016 10%156

Property Tax Circuit Breaker144

Current Update: 6/30/2016

5 - Defer Requested Review and Report on Potential Local Circuit Breaker 
Program

Comments:

Municipalities are considering these to be administered at the 
local level.  Most used to be tied to the State program but that 
no longer exists so programs would have local verification.

Due/Days/%: 12/31/2016 10%156

7/28/2016 11:59:45 AM Page 6 of 19



Task Title Priority Status Description

Ocean Access57

Current Update: 1/20/2016

5 - Defer Requested Explore Additional Opportunities for Ocean Access

Comments: Due/Days/%: 12/31/2016 0%156

New Meadows Restoration99

Current Update:

Recent call from ACOE asking if Brunswick wished to stay on list 
for potential funding.

Set up meeting with West Bath Administrator

5/9/2016

5 - Defer Requested Remove the "dam" on Bath road.  Remove the lake 
and restore.

Comments:

AOCE has Brunswick on the list for potential funding.

Due/Days/%: 12/31/2018 10%886

Finance Department

MRRA Tax Appeal / TIF amendments2

Current Update:

TIF Development Program amendments and CEA approved by 
Town Council 6/20/16.  Documents submitted to DECD for 
approval.

7/25/2016

2 - High In Progress MRRA Tax Appeal Case - see also task #1

Comments:

Settlement Reached.  Implement via amendments to the 
Development Programs
TM authorized to sign the credit enhancement agreement 
6/20/16.
Need DECD approval of Development Program amendments.

Due/Days/%: 6/30/2016 90%-28

7/28/2016 11:59:45 AM Page 7 of 19



Task Title Priority Status Description

MRRA TIF Requests (CEA)1

Current Update:

Public Hearing 6/20/2016. Council approved amendments, 
authorized CEA.  Documents submitted to DECD for approval.  
MRRA making new request for action in September.

7/25/2016

2 - High In Progress Amend development programs, establish credit 
enhancement agreement with MRRA

Comments:

Amendment of development programs and credit 
enhancement agreement with MRRA based on MOA signed 
10/7/15.
Town Council approved development program amendments, 
authorized TM to sign CEA.  DECD approval of development 
program amendments required.

Due/Days/%: 6/30/2016 80%-28

State Revolving Loan Fund117

Current Update:

Ordinance adopted 3/21/16.
MMBB application approved.
Town working with MMBB for loan closing in August, 2016

7/11/2016

2 - High In Progress Fund Improvements at Junior High and Coffin 
Schools

Comments:

DOE has approved Brunswick for funding.
Brunswick has notified MMBB and needs to file an application
School Board approved projects and borrowing
Borrowing Ordinance Must Be Adopted by Town Council - 
schedule for 3/7/16.

Due/Days/%: 7/31/2016 75%3

Revenues and Fees89

Current Update:

Fee schedule format approved by Town Council Nov 2015
Ambulance fees to Finance Committee 6/16/16, to Council 
7/18/16 to set public hearing for 8/1/16
Clerks' fees currently under review

7/11/2016

2 - High In Progress Review of All Fees and Charges

Comments:

Review and update all fees, fines and charges in Town 
Ordinance:
1.  Fire Dept - updated fees approved by Council 2/1/16
2.  Ambulance fees - July 2016
3.  Town Clerk - August 2016
4.  Public Works - possible storm drain connection fee
5.  Codes Enforcement - schedule review
6.  Police Dept - schedule review

Due/Days/%: 12/31/2016 35%156

Economic Development

7/28/2016 11:59:45 AM Page 8 of 19



Task Title Priority Status Description

Solarize Brunswick60

Current Update:

Staff working with R&S Committee on project close-out report 
to Town Council - probably in August or September 2016.

7/12/2016

2 - High In Progress Develop and implement Solalrize Brunswick Program

Comments:

Project exceeded target of Tier 5 200 kw discount; actual sign 
up to date = 450 kW. Program extended to end of May 2016. 
Recycling & Sustainability Committee Chair, Mike Wilson, 
representing Brunswick at Maine Association of Planners 5-20-
2016 workshop. See attachment.

Due/Days/%: 8/31/2016 99%34

Frank Wood Bridge37

Current Update:

MDOT presented recommendation in presentation to Brunswick 
Town Council on 4/19, to Stakeholders on 4/25 and to general 
public on 4/27. On Town Council agenda for 6/6/2016. 
Agreement to develop questions for MDOT & Friend of the FJW 
Bridge at 6/24/2016 workshop. Questions out to both parties. 
Attended Section 106 meeting on 7/11/2016. Bring back to 
Council in August.

7/12/2016

2 - High In Progress MDOT Project Replacement or Rehabilitation

Comments:

Possible connection to Riverwalk and Maine Street projects.

Due/Days/%: 12/31/2018 25%886

Riverwalk38

Current Update:

No recent activity.  Attempting to coordinate with 
replacement/rehab of Frank Wood Bridge.

1/20/2016

5 - Defer Deferred Implementation of Riverwalk Plan.

Comments:

Implementation of Riverwalk Plan.
Check with MDOT on Funding.

Due/Days/%: 12/31/2018 10%886

Public Works

7/28/2016 11:59:45 AM Page 9 of 19



Task Title Priority Status Description

Solid Waste Study47

Current Update:

Reviewed draft report with consultant on 2/4.  Consultant now 
finalizing report but needs to verify with DEP the action town 
needs to take to be eligible for DEP closure reimbursement 
funding.

3/1/2016

2 - High In Progress Study of Solid Waste Disposal Alternatives

Comments:

Commissioned study by Woodard and Curran on options

Due/Days/%: 8/31/2016 50%34

Graham Road Landfill4

Current Update:

Conversations on-going with MDEP.  Completion of solid waste 
alternatives report from Woodard and Curran pending 
conversation with MDEP.

7/12/2016

2 - High In Progress Solid Waste Committee Review of Landfill Options
Solid Waste Plan start date

Comments:

Solid Waste Committee Plan to Remain Open or Close
Legislation passed extending reimbursement window

Due/Days/%: 8/31/2016 50%34

Mere Point Wastewater District71

Current Update:

Stoddard Smith held a meeting with all waste water community 
members invited and presented them with the draft budget and 
proposed new fees for all 33 users.  Stoddard Smith submitted a 
letter to the town summarizing the meeting and outlining issues 
they would like the town to work on.  The 33 users are looking 
to form a group/association and have approximately 3 members 
represent them in future discussions with the town.  At this time 
the Finance Department is preparing a rate structure 
recommendation for submittal to the Town Council to hold a 
public hearing and adopt revised rates in time for the third 
quarter billing cycle (end of September).  The town will continue 
to work with all the users and provide them information on the 
proposed changes.

6/30/2016

2 - High In Progress Address Several Issues Relating to the MP 
Wastewater District

Comments:

Review annual operating costs; audit the billing units; identify 
capital replacement costs; identify solution for holding tank; 
and propose new rates.
Evaluate existing fields and pumps.
 
2.  Field Replacement
 
3. Fee Charge

Due/Days/%: 10/1/2016 90%65

7/28/2016 11:59:45 AM Page 10 of 19



Task Title Priority Status Description

River Rd Culvert Replacement134

Current Update:

Pipe arch (aluminum) order due within 2 weeks.  RFP out prior to 
29Jul.  Has to been finished by 30Sep.  Expect work to be 3-5 
days.  Traffic will detour to Hacker Rd.  Up against buses when 
school starts.

7/26/2016

2 - High In Progress Remove and Replace culvert

Comments:

Ransom is the design company.

Due/Days/%: 10/1/2016 66%65

Complete Streets Policy65

Current Update:

Draft sent to BBPAC for review. Expected to be provided to 
Town Council for consideration at its August 15th meeting.

7/25/2016

3 - Normal In Progress Develop Complete Streets Policy

Comments:

Policy sent to BBPAC for review.

Due/Days/%: 6/30/2016 90%-28

Extended RR Quiet Zones9

Current Update:

Project on hold pending new train schedules.

1/20/2016

5 - Defer Deferred Study alternatives for Quite Zones

Comments:

Consultants to make recommendations

Due/Days/%: 6/30/2016 50%-28

IT/Cable

TV3 Website, VOD, & Programming12

Current Update:

Improvements made.  Continue to evaluate.

1/20/2016

3 - Normal In Progress TV3 Website Improvements

Comments:

TV3 Website Improvements
Improve reliability of streaming
 
Streaming reliability and VOD improved

Due/Days/%: 12/31/2016 50%156

7/28/2016 11:59:45 AM Page 11 of 19



Task Title Priority Status Description

Website Upgrades94

Current Update:

Requested not yet authorized

2/1/2016

3 - Normal Requested Study and Make Recommended Improvements

Comments:

Study Recommended Improvements.
Social Media
Texts

Due/Days/%: 12/31/2016 0%156

Town Clerk

Meeting Minutes & Indexing30

Current Update:

Have several proposals.  Narrowed to 3.  Have had second 
conversations and now requested Byran to discuss the technical 
video streaming.  Fran and Bryan will meet and Fran then call 
references Expect to have recommendation by end of August

7/12/2016

2 - High In Progress Review and Recommend Minutes Indexing

Comments:

Fran Smith and Bryan Cobb to investigate different ways to 
improve the searchability of meetings and minutes; to make 
recommendation.

Due/Days/%: 9/1/2016 50%35

Planning and Development

Zoning Ordinance Re-write7

Current Update:

ZORC Draft under review by Planning Board.  Expected to 
complete first review by August 2nd.  ZORC continues to meet.  
Solar facilities to be discussed.  Update on shoreland.

7/13/2016

2 - High In Progress Re-write of Zoning Ordinance

Comments:

See project timeline.

Due/Days/%: 12/31/2016 85%156

7/28/2016 11:59:45 AM Page 12 of 19



Task Title Priority Status Description

Mare Brook Watershed Project111

Current Update:

Consultant selected:  FB Environmental w/ Stantec.
Six month report to MPAP (Ruta Denis) 12/31/2015 (attached)
Technical Advisory Committee meeting (1 of 3) 1/22/2016
Project webpage created: 
http://www.brunswickme.org/departments/planning-
development/mbwsa/ 
Technical Advisory Committee meeting (2 of 3) 4/27/2016
DEP/FB Environmental/Town Planner conference call 5/13/2016

5/28/2016

2 - High In Progress Investigate health of impaired stream

Comments:

Stressor analysis/Gap analysis complete
Sampling Inspection Plan (SIP) drafted. 
Stantec input required prior to finalizing SIP for TAC review. 
6/1/2016
Public meeting to be scheduled after SIP finalized.
DEP to perform field assessment in conjunction with 
FB/Stantec.  
DEP will construct bug enclosures and town staff may assist 
with Bowdoin fellow in constructing enclosures, and 
monitoring enclosures in-stream for 7-10 days.

Due/Days/%: 12/31/2016 50%156

Shoreland Stabilization126

Current Update:

Waiting on shoreland mapping from Peter Slovinsky (MGS).
Developing scope of work and staffing.

7/13/2016

2 - High In Progress Develop Shoreland Stabilization Regulations

Comments:

Develop Regulations for Shoreland Stabilization Project.

Kathleen Layden Maine Coastal Program.  Grant possibility 
discussed.

Due/Days/%: 4/1/2017 10%247

Old Bath Rd Bridge Replacement41

Current Update: 1/20/2016

3 - Normal In Progress MDOT Project to Replace Bridge in 2016

Comments:

MDOT Project 2016

Due/Days/%: 12/31/2016 50%156

7/28/2016 11:59:45 AM Page 13 of 19



Task Title Priority Status Description

Bus Transportation61

Current Update:

Meeting with METRO Exec Director 7/13.  Discussed potential 
funding models.  Reviewing possible models in August.

Considering grant  opportunities for next year.  Will require 
expenditure to prepare application and supporting materials.

7/13/2016

3 - Normal In Progress Review options for bus transportation to Portland

Comments:

Explore Metro expansion and funding.

Due/Days/%: 12/31/2016 25%156

Master Plan Implementation 
Committee

39

Current Update:

Downtown parking audit scheduled for last week in July.

See MPIC meeting minutes for additional details.

7/13/2016

3 - Normal In Progress Implement Downtown and Pleasant Street Master 
Plan

Comments:

See Master Plan Timeline
Review Funding Opportunities
Phase as appropriate

Due/Days/%: 12/31/2020 25%1617

VRB Guidelines40

Current Update:

Expected to be delayed through ZORC process.

1/26/2016

5 - Defer Requested VRB Guidelines

Comments:

Review Ordinance and update design guidelines

Due/Days/%: 6/30/2017 0%337

Cook's Corner Design Standards147

Current Update:

Project requested.

7/13/2016

5 - Defer Requested Review and update Cook's Corner design standards.

Comments:

Project is funding dependent.

Due/Days/%: 7/1/2017 0%338

7/28/2016 11:59:45 AM Page 14 of 19



Task Title Priority Status Description

Climate Change and Sustainability141

Current Update: 6/24/2016

5 - Defer Requested

Comments: Due/Days/%: 7/15/2017 0%352

Fire Department

Central Fire Station95

Current Update:

Need to review options to site new station per CIP

5/9/2016

2 - High Requested Review Options for New Station

Comments:

Need to find a location for new station.

Parapet needs repair
Floor needs repair (Lincoln Haney Report)
Building envelope is leaking

Due/Days/%: 12/31/2018 0%886

Ambulance Fees Update112

Current Update:

Fire Department and Finance Department have reviewed fees 
and No-Transports. Recommendations to be presented to 
Council 7/18/16

7/11/2016

3 - Normal In Progress Update the Ambulance Fees

Comments:

Comparable Fees for Service

Due/Days/%: 6/30/2016 75%-28

Multi-unit apartment inspections58

Current Update:

Contacted Biddeford Codes Department.  They have a new 
position that is funded through the budget.  Nothing new here 
in Town.

6/1/2016

5 - Defer Deferred Explore fee based apartment inspections.  Draft 
ordinance.

Comments:

In the queue since 2011.  Request by the Council to explore 
multi unit apartment building inspections.

Due/Days/%: 7/1/2016 75%-27

7/28/2016 11:59:45 AM Page 15 of 19



Task Title Priority Status Description

Assessing

Revaluation18

Current Update:

Data Collectors doing waterfront properties 7/2016
Revaluation mailing went out to rural properties 6/2016
Revaluation mailing going out to urban properties this fall as it 
gets closer to listing those properties.

5/27/2016

2 - High In Progress Revaluation of all Real Estate

Comments:

Notice of Revaluation Poster should go up around the first 
week of June.
Data Collector's working in the River Road area 5/27/2016
Field works begins with Map 1 (River Road) area 4/24/2016
Video shot field work released 4/28/2016
Revaluation database created on 3/24/2016
Start Up Meeting Scheduled for 3/14/2016
Contract Signed (3/9/2016)
Contract Awarded to KRT (3/1/2016)
Responses to RFP being reviewed.
RFP Issued 
Included in 2015-2016 CIP
Prepare RFP
Prepare Bond Ordinance

Due/Days/%: 8/11/2017 20%379

Parks and Recreation

7/28/2016 11:59:45 AM Page 16 of 19



Task Title Priority Status Description

Androscoggin Launch Ramp80

Current Update:

Reviewed accessibility improvements with Codes Enforcement 
Officer and Tom Linscott from State of Maine Boating Facilities 
Development (MDACF) and final work to complete 
improvements is currently underway.
.

6/1/2016

2 - High In Progress Complete Construction of Ramp Improvements

Comments:

Update From Pine Tree Engineering Attached.  Ramp is usable 
but contractor did not meet contract criteria.  Resolution 
needed.  Discussion on 12/8/2015 with TM, ATM, Julie H, Tom 
F, Pine Tree Engineering, and State of Maine to place in Town 
Hall Admin.  Grant option for extension into completing 
project discussed and recommended courses of action.  TM to 
arrange meeting with contractor and Pine Tree.
Engineers recommendation attached 12/8.

Settlement reached with contractor.

Due/Days/%: 10/1/2016 90%65

BHS Track63

Current Update:

Huntress Sports Landscape Architects and Planners has 
developed plans for the 400 meter track and field renovations at 
BHS. Project specifications were reviewed with School 
Department representatives and town representatives on 
5/17/16.

6/1/2016

3 - Normal In Progress Assist in development of specifications for BHS track

Comments:

Project is in the School Department's CIP

Due/Days/%: 9/1/2016 90%35

Furbish Preserve Trails Improvements102

Current Update:

Wetland declinations have been completed by Stantec and draft 
permit applications for trail construction prepared for later 
submittal to DEP. The town must provide evidence that it holds 
title to all property upon which the proposed trails are to be 
constructed at the time of permit submittal to DEP. The town is 
awaiting the U.S. Department of the Interior providing it with 
draft deeds for review of the remaining parcels.

1/25/2016

3 - Normal In Progress Make Trails Improvements Consistent with Master 
Plan

Comments:

Awaiting transfer of title of property from the U.S. Department 
of the Interior of all parcels within the Rec-7 boundary prior to 
submittal of permit applications to MDEP.

Due/Days/%: 10/1/2016 25%65

7/28/2016 11:59:45 AM Page 17 of 19



Task Title Priority Status Description

Aquatics Center105

Current Update:

Report to be delivered by June 30, 2016.  Report to Council 
expected in fall of 2016.

5/9/2016

3 - Normal In Progress Report on Aquatics Options to Replace Coffin Pond

Comments:

Complete study and make recommendations.

Due/Days/%: 12/31/2016 75%156

Recreation Center Improvements104

Current Update:

Capital budget includes funding for planning.

6/1/2016

3 - Normal In Progress Design Recreation Center Improvements

Comments:

Requires architect to design code compliant corridors and 
other building uses.

Due/Days/%: 12/31/2016 10%156

Community Ice106

Current Update:

Community Ice believes best site is located next to Recreation 
Center.  July meeting of Community Ice is scheduled.

7/13/2016

5 - Defer Deferred Coordinate with Community Ice

Comments:

Assistance to Community Ice for locating ice facility near 
Recreation Center.

Due/Days/%: 12/31/2016 10%156

Bike Path Extension21

Current Update:

Potential for grant funding to be explored.

4/28/2016

5 - Defer Deferred Extension to Bath (planning funds)

Comments:

Planning Funds sought for extension of Bike Path.

Due/Days/%: 12/31/2017 10%521

Marine Resources

7/28/2016 11:59:45 AM Page 18 of 19



Task Title Priority Status Description

Mooring Feasibility Study43

Current Update:

Draft Report provided to RCWC.

7/25/2016

2 - High In Progress Explore Options for Additional Mooring Fields

Comments:

MCP Grant

Review tax acquired property.

Due/Days/%: 10/1/2016 50%65

Municipal Aquaculture82

Current Update:

Ordinance sent to DMR for review.

3/1/2016

2 - High In Progress Develop and Implement Municipal Aquaculture 
Ordinance.

Comments: Due/Days/%: 12/31/2016 60%156

Simpson's Point96

Current Update:

Waiting on decision from IFW

3/1/2016

2 - High On Hold Open Access to Propeller Driven Boats

Comments:

Request made to IFW

Due/Days/%: 12/31/2016 50%156

Cable TV

Town Manager Television Show110

Current Update:

Brief meeting to discuss format.

7/25/2016

3 - Normal In Progress Launch Town Manager TV3 show

Comments:

Peter Compagna to lead

Due/Days/%: 9/1/2016 10%35

Total 62

7/28/2016 11:59:45 AM Page 19 of 19



 
 

 
MANAGER’S REPORT - B 
NO BACK UP MATERIALS 



 
 

 
MANAGER’S REPORT - C 
NO BACK UP MATERIALS 



 
 

 
ITEM 85 
BACK UP MATERIALS 



	
	

MEMORANDUM	
	
	
TO:	 John	Eldridge,	Town	Manager	 	
	
FROM:	 Julie	Henze,	Finance	Director	
	 	
DATE:	 July	20,	2016	
	
SUBJECT:	 Update	of	Emergency	Medical	Services	(Ambulance)	Fees	
	
	
	
In	preparation	for	the	public	hearing	scheduled	by	the	Town	Council	for	August	1,	2016,	I	have	
prepared	the	attached	documents.		These	are	all	the	same	documents	presented	at	the	July	18,	2016	
meeting,	with	two	changes:	
	

1. 	Correction	of	the	fees	on	the	proposed	amended	Master	Schedule	of	Revenues,	Charges,	Fee	
and	Fines,	Appendix	B,	chapter	9.		The	draft	provided	at	the	July	18th	meeting	was	from	a	
previous	iteration	of	our	recommendation,	and	I	apologize	for	the	error.	
	

2. Removal	of	the	“Respond	to	Motor	Vehicle	Accident”	section	on	the	EMS	Billing	Rate	Survey.		
Though	this	information	was	provided	by	fire	departments	in	response	to	the	survey,	we	are	
not	proposing	any	additional	fees	at	this	time.	
	

To	be	clear,	we	have	based	our	recommended	rates	on	the	average	of	the	municipalities	surveyed.		
The	recommended	changes	are	as	follows:	
	

  Current rate  Change  Proposed Rate  Survey average 

BLS:		            $380  $100  										$480	           $479.63  

ALS1:	            530  90  										620	            621.70  

ALS2:		            690  170  										860	            864.78  

Mileage:		               11  1  													12	               12.16  

Non‐transport:		 										160	 ‐  										160	            114.58  

ALS	Assist:	            265  35  										300	            310.79  
	
	
Ken	Brillant	and	I	will	be	available	at	the	public	hearing	on	August	1,	2016	to	answer	any	questions.		
We	also	welcome	any	questions	in	advance	and	will	provide	additional	information	as	requested.	



Medical Billing Rates

Non‐ ALS

Procedure: BLS ALS 1 ALS 2 Mileage Transport Assist

Old Orchard Beach 468.00            556.00            805.00          10.00            N/C 300.00          

Saco 420.00            429.00            765.00          12.50            100.00           300.00          

Scarborough 523.44            807.53            1,145.75       8.86              125.00           300.00          

Cape Elizabeth 400.00            500.00            700.00          10.00            N/C N/C

South Portland 400.00            500.00            700.00          10.00            100.00           300.00          

Portland 748.00            888.00            1,266.00       18.06            N/C 451.00          

Westbrook 420.00            500.00            700.00          12.00            125.00           300.00          

Gorham 420.00            500.00            700.00          12.00            125.00           300.00          

Windham 600.00            800.00            1,100.00       14.00            100.00           300.00          

Falmouth 600.00            900.00            1,200.00       16.00            150.00           300.00          

Cumberland 370.00            495.00            690.00          12.50            100.00           300.00          

Yarmouth 450.00            650.00            775.00          12.00            100.00           300.00          

Freeport 400.00            500.00            700.00          12.00            150.00           300.00          

Topsham** 375.00            500.00            625.00          10.50            100.00           225.00          

Bath 600.00            800.00            1,100.00       12.00            100.00           375.00          

Average 479.63            621.70            864.78          12.16            114.58           310.79          

Brunswick 380.00            530.00            690.00          11.00            160.00           265.00          

Over/(Under Average (99.63)             (91.70)             (174.78)         (1.16)             45.42             (45.79)           

Recommended 480.00            620.00            860.00          12.00            160.00           300.00          

Increase/(Decrease) 100.00            90.00             170.00          1.00              ‐                 35.00            

** Topsham rates as currently proposed for update/increase

previous rates: 334.99            390.70            575.76          10.00            ‐                 ‐                

O:\Finance\Ordinances\Revenue Ordinance\Ambulance\Area EMS Billing Rate Survey 7/20/2016



Town of Brunswick

Annual Ambulance Revenues

2010‐11 2011‐12 2012‐13 2013‐14 2014‐15 2015‐16 YTD

Billed 1,032,520.53      1,142,937.73      1,203,435.31    1,208,796.12    1,229,194.10      1,132,524.57  

Write‐offs (244,007.20)        (289,648.01)        (293,333.40)      (291,546.14)      (318,616.75)        (324,443.51)    

Collection fees (1,620.31)             (1,531.67)             (1,661.66)           (1,269.07)           (2,503.50)            (2,922.60)         

Deferred 17,770.46            (27,608.60)           (19,103.35)         (87,774.85)         (43,651.01)         

Net Revenue 804,663.48          824,149.45          889,336.90        828,206.06        864,422.84         805,158.46      

% write offs 23.63% 25.34% 24.37% 24.12% 25.92% 28.65%

Medicare Reimbursement Rates per call

Brunswick Medicare Medicare Sequestration Net Medicare Not covered Write‐off

Billing Rate Allowed Reimb (80%) reduction Reimb by Medicare Amount

BLS 380.00                  365.56                 292.45                (5.85)                   286.60                93.40                 20.29         

ALS‐1 530.00                  434.10                 347.28                (6.95)                   340.33                189.67               102.85       

ALS‐2 690.00                  628.31                 502.65                (10.05)                 492.60                197.40               71.74         

mileage 11.00                    10.97                   8.78                    (0.18)                   8.60                    2.40                   0.21           

Non‐transport 160.00                  ‐                       ‐                      ‐                      ‐                       160.00               160.00       

Non‐transport 160.00                  128.00                 102.40                (2.05)                   100.35                59.65                 34.05         

(deceased)

O:\Finance\Ordinances\Revenue Ordinance\Ambulance\Ambulance billing analysis 2016 7/7/2016



 

 

    Page 1 

TOWN OF BRUNSWICK MUNICIPAL CODE OF ORDINANCES 

ARTICLE III. ‐ EMERGENCY MEDICAL SERVICES[3]  

Sec. 9‐38. ‐ Purpose.  

The purpose of this chapter is to establish guidelines and fees relating to emergency medical 
services provided by the town.  

(Ord. of 6-18-07) 

Sec. 9‐39. ‐ General.  

The town shall provide emergency medical services within the municipal boundaries of the town and 
beyond those boundaries by agreement authorized by the town council. However, nothing in this article 
shall prohibit, on a case-by-case basis, the chief of the emergency medical services unit from providing 
service beyond the boundaries of the town when the chief determines that a response is appropriate.  

(Ord. of 6-18-07) 

Sec. 9‐40. ‐ Definitions.  

The following words, terms, and phrases, when used in this chapter, shall have the meanings 
ascribed to them in this section, except where the context clearly indicates a different meaning.  

Accepting assignment is a process in which an emergency medical services provider, in exchange 
for receiving payment directly from an insurer, agrees to accept a fee other than the provider's stated fee.  

Advanced life support intervention is a procedure beyond the scope of an EMT-Basic as defined in 
the National EMS Education and Practice Blueprint.  

Advanced life support level 1 (ALS1) is, when medically necessary, the provision of an assessment 
and/or the provision of one (1) or more ALS interventions.  

Advanced life support level 2 (ALS2) is, when medically necessary, the administration of at least 
three (3) different medications and/or the provision of one (1) or more of the following ALS procedures:  

• Manual defibrillation/cardioversion.  
• Endotracheal intubations.  
• Central venous line.  
• Cardiac pacing.  
• Chest decompression.  
• Surgical airway.  
• Intraosseous line.  
 
ALS assist is the provision of ALS services to another emergency medical services provider for 

which the town does not transport patients.  

Basic life support (BLS) is, when medically necessary, the provision of basic life support services as 
defined in the National EMS Education and Practice Blueprint for the EMT-Basic including the 
establishment of a peripheral intravenous (IV) line.  

Billing unit shall be the town department or division designated by the town manager to prepare 
patient invoices, statements, collection notices, insurance claims and any other required information in 
order to pursue collection of the fees levied under this chapter.  



 

 

    Page 2 

Chief of emergency medical services is the person designated by the town manager to oversee 
emergency medical services operations.  

Emergency medical services division is the division of the fire department that provides emergency 
medical services.  

Emergency medical service unit is a town-owned vehicle, or other craft, that is designed, equipped, 
and operated for the transportation of sick or injured persons, requiring or likely to require medical 
attention during transport.  

Intraosseous line or infusion is the process of injection directly into the marrow of the bone.  

Loaded mile is the mileage, rounded to the nearest mile, from the location where the person is first 
attended by the emergency medical service unit to an emergency medical care facility or to a rendezvous 
point with another emergency service provider.  

Non-Transport (billable) occurs when a patient, or person representing a patient calls for, or 
otherwise requests, an emergency medical service response and for which an emergency medical 
services unit responds and it is determined on-scene or subsequently that a response was not medically 
necessary.  

Non-Transport (non-billable) occurs when a person unrelated, or otherwise not connected to a 
patient, calls for, or otherwise requests, an emergency medical service response and for which an 
emergency medical services unit responds and it is determined on-scene that a response was not 
medically necessary.  

Patient is a person for whom an emergency medical services unit is requested, regardless of the 
origin of request.  

Run sheet is a form, completed by the emergency services personnel, that describes a patient's 
condition and the medical services provided.  

(Ord. of 6-18-07) 

Sec. 9‐41. ‐ Fees.  

Fees shall be charged for emergency medical services provided by the town in accordance with the 
Master Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, Appendix B to this Municipal Code of 
Ordinances.  

With the exception of ALS assists, all invoices for services rendered by the town's emergency 
medical services unit shall be billed to the patient or the patient's insurer. ALS assists shall be billed to the 
emergency medical services provider requesting the assistance.  

(Ord. of 6-18-07; Ord. of 6-1-09; Ord. of 11-16-15(3)) 

Sec. 9‐42. ‐ Billing.  

The emergency services division shall prepare a run sheet for each patient. The chief of the 
emergency services division, or the chief's designee, shall review the run sheet for accuracy and 
completeness. The completed run sheet, along with any supplemental information, shall be provided to 
the billing unit.  

The billing unit shall invoice the patient in accordance with the fees specified in this article. As a 
matter of law, the billing unit may be required to accept payments from, and at rates determined by a 
government insurer, in which case an insurance claim will be submitted directly to the government 
insurer. The billing unit may also make arrangements (known generally as "accepting assignment") with 
other insurers to accept payments directly from those insurers at fees other than those provided for in this 
article. Nothing in this article shall require the billing unit to accept assignment from all insurers.  



 

 

    Page 3 

The billing unit shall examine the list of unpaid accounts periodically and may abate, or otherwise 
deem uncollectible, any amounts the billing unit determines, in its judgment, to be uncollectible.  

(Ord. of 6-18-07) 

Sec. 9‐43. ‐ Collection agencies.  

The billing unit is authorized to negotiate arrangements with collection agencies to pursue delinquent 
accounts. Collection agency fees may be negotiated on terms satisfactory to the billing unit.  

(Ord. of 6-18-07) 



 

 

    Page 1 

TOWN OF BRUNSWICK MUNICIPAL CODE OF ORDINANCES 

APPENDIX B MASTER SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, CHARGES, FEES AND FINES  

Reference  Date  Description  Amount 

Chapter 9—Human Services  

Sec. 9‐41   6/1/2009  Fees for emergency medical services provided by the town 
 

   
Non‐transport (billable) $160.00 per response

   
ALS assist 

$265.00 per response

$300.00 per response

   
Basic life support 

$380.00 per response

$480.00 per response

   
Advance life support 

$530.00 per response

$620.00 per response

   
Advance life support 2 

$690.00 per response

$860.00 per response

   
Loaded mile 

$11.00 per mile 

$12.00 per mile 

  



 
 

 
ITEM 86 
BACK UP MATERIALS 



Town of Brunswick, Maine 
	

OFFICE	OF	THE	TOWN	MANAGER	
	

O:\Council\Council	By	Year\Council	2016\Memo	Mere	Point	Wastewater	Fees	072616.docx	

MEMORANDUM	
	
TO:	 Town	Council	
	
FROM:	 John	Eldridge	
	 Town	Manager	
	
DATE:	 July	26,	2016	
	
SUBJECT:	 Mere	Point	Wastewater	District	
	 Proposed	Fee	Increases		
	
	
In	the	early	1990’s	the	Town	of	Brunswick,	along	with	support	from	the	Maine	Department	of	
Environmental	Protection	(“MDEP”)	and	the	property	owners	of	year‐round	and	seasonal	
residences	on	Mere	Point,	funded	a	project	that	removed	overboard	wastewater	discharges,	
constructed	community	septic	systems,	and	established	a	wastewater	utility	district	to	fund	the	
operation	of	the	systems.		The	Town	began	billing	property	owners	for	system	maintenance	and	
operation	beginning	in	July	1995.		Since	establishing	the	district,	the	rates	paid	by	the	users	of	the	
system	have	remained	unchanged.		Not	surprisingly,	maintenance	costs	have	increased	over	the	
past	twenty‐one	years.		Further,	components	of	the	system	have	required,	and	continue	to	require,	
maintenance	and	replacement.		Last	year	one	of	the	peat	fields	failed,	requiring	replacement	at	a	
cost	of	more	than	$40,000.		Although	the	Mere	Point	Wastewater	District	has	consistently	
experienced	operating	losses,	the	cost	of	the	replacement	created	an	overall	fund	deficit.	
	
Because	of	the	deficit,	the	on‐going	operating	losses,	and	the	need	to	establish	a	reserve	for	future	
capital	improvements,	the	Town	undertook	an	evaluation	of	the	existing	rates.		The	Finance	and	
Public	Works	Departments	collaborated	in	developing	recommended	rate	increases.		The	proposed	
increases	were	provided	to	the	system	users	and	discussed	by	the	Finance	Committee	at	its	July	
23rd		meeting.		We	understand	the	system	users	discussed	the	rate	increase	at	a	meeting	they	held	
earlier	in	July.		The	Finance	Committee	voted	to	support	the	rate	increases.		The	package	of	
information	and	recommendations	reviewed	by	the	Finance	Committee	is	attached.			
	
Since	the	rates	are	established	by	ordinance,	we	recommend	that	the	Town	Council	set	a	public	
hearing	for	August	15th	in	order	to	consider	the	proposed	rate	increases.		If	approved,	the	rate	
increases	would	be	effective	for	the	next	quarterly	billing.	
	
It	should	be	noted	that	the	Finance	Committee	and	Town	staff	also	discussed	other	issues	relating	
to	the	operation	and	maintenance	of	the	system.		Among	those	is	the	need	to	explore	constructing	a	
connection	between	a	holding	tank	on	Webb	Field	Road	and	the	septic	field	that	was	designed	to	
treat		water	being	generated	at	four	residences	on	that	road.		Currently	the	holding	tank	is	pumped	
regularly.		That	pumping	consumes	a	significant	portion	of	the	District’s	operating	budget.		
Connecting	the	tank	to	the	field	designed	to	serve	it	comes	at	a	cost,	but	would	reduce	the	cost	of	
regular	pumping	of	the	holding	tank.	
	
We	look	forward	to	discussing	the	proposed	increases	with	the	Town	Council	as	it	considers	our	
recommendation.	
	
Attachments	



	

	

MEMORANDUM	
	
	
TO:	 John	Eldridge	
	 Town	Manager		
	
FROM:	 Julie	Henze,	Finance	Director	
	 John	Foster,	Public	Works	Director	
	
DATE:	 July	22,	2016	
	
SUBJECT:	 Update	of	Mere	Point	Wastewater	District	Fees	
	
	
	
The	Mere	Point	Wastewater	District	was	built	by	the	Town	in	1992‐1993.		The	user	fees	have	not	
been	updated	since	that	time.		The	Town	of	Brunswick	Code	of	Ordinances,	Chapter	16,	Article	III.	‐
Sewer	Use;	In‐Ground	Sewage	Treatment	Systems	was	adopted	by	the	Town	Council	in	July	1993.		
The	fees	were	referred	to,	but	no	rates	were	specified	in	the	Ordinance.			
	
Beginning	in	the	fall	of	2015,	staff	has	undertaken	an	analysis	of	the	Town	of	Brunswick’s	user	fees	for	
the	District.		It	is	clear	that	the	existing	fees	are	no	longer	sufficient	to	cover	the	costs	associated	with	
operating	the	system,	and	a	failure	of	one	of	the	leach	fields	in	August	2015	also	make	it	clear	that	the	
Town	should	build	up	a	capital	reserve	to	maintain	the	aging	infrastructure.		Through	the	spring	and	
early	summer,	we	have	been	in	communication	with	the	users	of	the	system,	and	have	notified	them	
that	a	rate	increase	is	necessary.		We	are	presenting	this	item	for	consideration	by	the	Council	during	
the	summer	months	while	the	majority	of	the	affected	residents	are	in	town.	
	
At	this	time,	we	propose	that	the	rates	be	increased,	and	that	the	ordinance	be	amended	to	list	the	
Sewage	Treatment	rates	within	Appendix	B,	Master	Schedule	of	Revenues,	Charges,	Fees	and	Fines.	
	
Attached,	for	your	information	and	discussion,	are	a	number	of	documents:	
	

1. History	and	description	of	the	Mere	Point	Wastewater	Facility,	plus	site	plan	
2. Summary	of	annual	operating	costs	
3. Estimated	annual	operating	expenses	
4. Fee	structure	established	in	1992	
5. Proposed	rate	increase	
6. Proposed	Ordinance	amendment	and	fee	schedule	

	
The	Finance	Committee	met	on	July	21,	2016	and	reviewed	the	proposed	fee	increases.	The	
Committee	heard	from	representatives	of	the	Sewer	District	as	well	as	from	a	Mere	Point	resident.			
There	was	extended	discussion	about	whether	the	fees	proposed	were	high	enough	to	fund	adequate	
capital	reserves	for	the	district,	but	a	majority	of	the	Finance	Committee	agreed	to	recommend	the	
currently	proposed	fees	to	the	Council.				The	Committee	also	recommends	regular	annual	review,	and	
update	of	the	fees	as	needed.	
	
We	propose	to	bring	this	item	to	the	August	1,	2016	Town	Council	meeting	and	request	that	a	public	
hearing	be	set	for	August	15,	2016.			
	
	



Brunswick Public Works Dept 
9 Industry Rd 
BRUNSWICK  ME   04011 
207.725.6654 
 

Memorandum 
 

 TO: Finance Committee   
 

 FROM: John A. Foster, Town Engineer/Dir. PWD  
 

 DATE: 13 July, 2016 
 

 SUBJECT: Brief History & Description of the Mere Point Waster Water Facility 
 

 

The site history for the Town owned waste water facility at Mere Point is as follows: 

Site History: 

The community disposal system was designed in 1991-92 by Kimball-Chase Engineering, Bath, 
Maine.  The project was approved by DEP and was eligible for a DEP (25% share) and EPA (55% 
share) project reimbursement grant (if the system was owned by the town). The project was bid in 
late 1992 and Ray Labbe & Sons, Inc. was awarded the contract and started work over the winter 
and completed the project by approximately June 1993.  The construction cost was $587,642.74.  
Other Finance Department information indicates that EPA/DEP paid $616,000 of the total cost and 
the 33 users paid $94,500 of the total contract cost (construction, engineering, legal, etc.).  All 
unreimbursed project costs were covered by the 33 residential lots being served by the system.  
We do have record drawings for the project as well as a detailed Operation & Maintenance Manual.  
The system operates under a Waste Discharge License issued by DEP and is inspected annually 
by DEP. The Brunswick Sewer District (BSD), under a separate agreement with the Town of 
Brunswick, operates and maintains the system for the town and bills the town for all costs they incur 
in doing the O&M.  The town in turn then sends out quarterly bills to the residents being served to 
cover all the operating and maintenance costs.  The quarterly rates being charged today are the 
same rates developed back in 1992 and they have never been increased. 
 
Infrastructure: 

The system includes the following: 
1. 35 residences on 33 tax lots (22 seasonal and 13 year round per the billings) are served (two 

lots have two separate residence buildings on each lot).  The town system serves 35 of the 57 
residential units in the Sea Point Land Company community.  See the attached aerial site plan. 

2. 9 individual leach fields. One leach field serves only 1 home and the other 8 serve 30 homes 
and 4 homes have no leach field and discharge to a holding tank that has to be emptied 3 to 4 
times per month.  

3. 15 pumping stations located in 12 wet wells and three pumps are located within a septic tank 
(combo). 11 wet wells have 2 pumps each and one wet well has one pump and three pumps 
are located in septic tanks for a total of 26 pumps.  Nine separate electric services/control 
panels are on site to power and operate the pumps. 

4. 29 septic tanks with a total capacity of 33,500 gallons. 
5. One 8,000 gallon holding tank that serves 4 units has to be pumped out approximately 3 to 4 

times per month with the contents brought to the BSD treatment plant for disposal. 
6. The piping serving the system totals about 1,300 feet of 4” and 6” ductile iron sewer for gravity 

drainage, 5,500 feet of 2” diameter force main piping per the DEP permit. 
7. The BSD maintains all the above facilities for the town including the piping back to within 5 

feet of each home served. 

Brunswick Public Works Dept 



 
Intentionally left blank 



 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



By John Foster, Town Engineer Print Date: July 13, 2016

2009-2010 2010-2011 2011-2012 2012-2013 2013-2014 2014-2015 2015-2016

Operating Costs
Electricity 1,232$            1,037$            946$               1,167$            1,252$            1,222$            1,324$            

Brunswick Sewer District Contract 26,647$          16,362$          15,132$          17,390$          32,515$          26,198$          20,862$          

Emergency Replace Field #6 -$                -$                -$                -$                -$                46,811$          

Annual Operating Cost 27,879$          17,399$          16,079$          18,556$          33,767$          27,420$          68,997$          

Revenue
Interest Income 1$                   1$                   4$                   4$                   3$                   

Annual Revenue from User Fees 21,533$          21,367$          21,533$          21,670$          21,533$          21,035$          21,913$          

Annual Operating Revenue 21,534$          21,367$          21,534$          21,674$          21,537$          21,038$          21,913$          

Net Revenue/Expenses Balance (6,345)$           3,968$            5,455$            3,117$            (12,230)$         (6,382)$           (47,084)$         

Net Operating Balance
  Prior FY Year Balance:   $  38,643 32,298$          36,266$          41,721$          44,838$          32,608$          26,226$          (20,857)$         

Table 1

July 1 thru June 30

Mere Point Wastewater Account 
Fund No. 6100

Summary of Annual Operating Costs, Revenues and Year End Balance for Prior 7 Fiscal Years

Item
Fiscal Year



By John Foster, Town Engineer Print Date: May 3, 2016

Task / Description Quantity Unit Unit Price  Total Cost 
for One 

Annual 
Task Cost

 1992 Budget 
for Task 

Septage Pumping and Disposal

Inspection of Septic Tank Volumes & Pumps (4/year)
Employee (2) 7                   hrs 55.64$          389.48$          
Transportation - Utility Truck 3.5                hrs 50.00$          175.00$          
Sub-Total 564.48$          2,257.92$     

Annual Contract to Empty Septic Tanks (5 yr rotating schedule for 29 Septic Tanks)
Contract for Septic Tank Emptying 4,725            gals 0.12$            567.00$          
Septage Charge by BSD for Disposal at Plant 4,725            gals. 0.00795$      37.59$            

604.59$          604.59$        
Total Annual Septage Pumping and Disposal Cost 2,862.51$     1,950.00$         

Holding Tank Pumping & Disposal

Pumping of 8,000 gal. Holding Tank (3 to 4 times per 150,000        gals. 0.055$          8,250.00$       
Septage Charge by BSD for Disposal at Plant 150,000        gals. 0.00795$      1,193.18$       

Total Annual Holding Tank Pumping & Disposal Cost 9,443.18$       9,443.18$     8,319.00$         

Pump Station Electricity
Average Monthly CMP Cost for 9 Metered Services 12                 mo. 120.00$        1,440.00$       

Total Annual Pump Station Electricity Cost 1,440.00$       1,440.00$     300.00$            

Pumping Station Maintenance

Labor Allowance for Replacement of 3 Pumps/Year (26 total pumps in system)
Employee (2) 4                   hrs 55.64$          222.56$          
Transportation - Utility Truck 2                   hrs 50.00$          100.00$          
Transportation - Jet/Vac 1.5                hrs 150.00$        225.00$          
Sub-Total 547.56$          1,642.68$     

Winterize/Restore Seasonal Pump Operation (2/year)
Employee 6                   hrs 55.64$          333.84$          
Transportation - Utility Truck 6                   hrs 50.00$          300.00$          
Sub-Total 633.84$          1,267.68$     

Allowance for Emergency Response for Power Outages/Emergency Pumping (2/year)
Employee (2) 6                   hrs 55.64$          333.84$          
Transportation - Utility Truck 3                   hrs 50.00$          150.00$          
Sub-Total 483.84$          967.68$        

Total Annual Pumping Station Maintenance Cost 3,878.04$     1,300.00$         
Pumping Station Supplies

Pipe and Fittings for Pump Replacement L.S. 300.00$          
Pump 3                   ea. 895.00$        2,685.00$       
Miscellaneous L.S. 200.00$          

Total Annual Pumping Station Maintenance Cost 3,185.00$     960.00$            
Sewer Cleaning

Inspection of Septic Tank Volumes & Pumps (4/year)
Employee (2) 7                   hrs 55.64$          389.48$          
Transportation - Utility Truck 3.5                hrs 50.00$          175.00$          

Total Annual Sewer Cleaning Cost 564.48$          2,257.92$     3,010.00$         
Inspections

Annual Sampling of Drinking Water Wells (Req'd by DEP Permit)
Employee (2) 6  hrs 55.64$          333.84$          
Transportation - Utility Truck 3  hrs 50.00$          150.00$          
Lab Analysis (Maine Env. Lab.) L.S. 1,270.00$       

Total Annual Inspections Cost 1,753.84$       1,753.84$     1,800.00$         
Annual Report (Admin)

Employee to Accompany DEP Inspector (1/year) 3.5                hrs 55.64$          194.74$          
Transportation - Utility Truck 3.5                hrs 50.00$          175.00$          
DEP Annual Wastewater Discharge Fee 435.40$          
DEP MSGP Annual Fee for Permit #MER05B577 300.00$          

Total Annual Inspections Cost 1,105.14$       1,105.14$     1,300.00$         
Sinking Fund

Proposed Annual Sinking Fund Set Aside 9,400.00$     2,300.00$         
Miscellaneous

Miscellaneous costs/materials included in above line items -$             300.00$            

Proposed Annual Operating Budget 35,325.63$   21,539.00$       

Mere Point Waste Water System
Estimated Annual Operating Expenses



Annual Costs 
USER CHARGE CALCULATIONS · 

A . . 

Septage Pumping and Disposal 
Holding Tanlc Pumping & Disp,osal 
Pump Station Electricity 

. Pump Station Maintenance 
Pump Station Supplies 
Sewer Cleaning 
Inspections 
Annual Report (Admin.) 
Sinking Fund 
Misc. 

TOTAL! 
B. User Categories 

c. 
- ... ... 

Number of Customers - 35 
Seasonal 21 
Year Round 14 

Number of Bedrooms - 127 
Seasonal 81 
Year Round - 46 

Equivalent Bedrooms 
Seasonal 81 x 1 = 81 
.Year Round 46 x 2 = .22 

TOTAL 173 

User Charge Calculation 
Fixed Charges: 

$15,069/35 = $431/user 

Variable Charges: 
$6,470/173 = $37 /Equivalent Bedroom 

Average User Charge: 
Year Round = 431 + [37*22] = $674 

14 
Seasonal = 431 + [37*.811 = $574 

21 
D. User Charge Formula 

Tut.al 
$ 1,950 

8,319 
300 

1,300 
960 

3,010 
1,800 
1,300 
2,300 

300 

$21,539 

U.C. = Fixed charge + (variable charge x equiv. bedrooms) 

1 

md 
$ 975 

5,319 
-0-
580 
460 

3,010 
1,125 
1,300 
2,300 

-0-

$15,069 

Variable 
$ 975 
3;000 

300 
720 
500 
-0-
675 
-0-
-0-
300 

$6,470 

--Kiml:xill 
~Chase 

jfoster
Text Box
August 19, 1992



By John Foster, Town Engineer Print Date: May 9, 2016

A. Annual Costs Total Fixed Variable

Septage Pumping and Disposal 2,863$          1,431$            1,431$          
Holding Tank Pumping & Disposal 9,443$          6,443$            3,000$          
Pump Station Electricity 1,440$          -$                1,440$          
Pumping Station Maintenance 3,878$          1,730$            2,148$          
Pumping Station Supplies 3,185$          1,593$            1,593$          
Sewer Cleaning 2,258$          2,258$            -$              
Inspections 1,754$          1,096$            658$             
Annual Report (Admin) 1,105$          1,105$            -$              
Sinking Fund 9,400$          9,400$            -$              
Miscellaneous -$              -$                -$              

Total: 35,326$        25,056$          10,269$        
B. User Categories

Number of Customers 35  ea.
Seasonal 22  ea.
Year Round 13  ea.

Number of Bedrooms 125  bedrooms
Seasonal 75  bedrooms
Year Round 50  bedrooms

Equivalent Bedrooms
Seasonal (75 x 1) 75  equiv. bedrooms
Year Round (50*2) 100  equiv. bedrooms
Total 175  equiv. bedrooms

C. User Charge Calculation
Fixed Charges $25,056 / 35 716$             / User
Variable Charges:   $10,269/175 58$               / Equivalent Bedroom

Average User Charge
Year Round = $716 + ($58 x 100) / 13 1,163$         
Seasonal = $716 + ($58 x 75) / 22 914$            

D. User Charge Formula
  U.C. = Fixed Charge  +  (variable charge x equiv. bedrooms)

Projected Annual Revenue Based on Draft Budget
Year Round Properties 13  ea. 716$             9,308$            
Year Round Number of Bedrooms 50  ea. 116$             5,800$            
Seasonal Properties 22  ea. 716$             15,752$          
Seasonal Number of Bedrooms 75  ea. 58$               4,350$            
Total Revenue 35,210$          

Current Annual Revenue
Year Round Properties 13  ea. 435$             5,655$            
Year Round Number of Bedrooms 50  ea. 76$               3,800$            
Seasonal Properties 22  ea. 435$             9,570$            
Seasonal Number of Bedrooms 75  ea. 38$               2,850$            
Total Revenue 21,875$          

Budget Increase 13,335$          
Percent Budget Increase 61%

User Charge Calculations 
(for Comparison with 1992 Calculations)

Mere Point Waste Water System

D R A F T



By John Foster, Town Engineer Print Date: July 12, 2016

No. MAP/LOT TYPE
Existing 
Quarterly 
Amt Billed

Existing 
Annual Amt. 

Billed

Proposed
Quarterly
Amt Billed

Proposed
Annual

Amt Billed

1     MP1-006 Year Rnd 3 165.75$          663.00$          266.00$         1,064.00$      

2     MP1-007 Seasonal 3 137.25$          549.00$          222.50$         890.00$         

3     MP1-008 Seasonal 4 146.75$          587.00$          237.00$         948.00$         

4     MP1-009 Seasonal 4 146.75$          587.00$          237.00$         948.00$         

5     MP1-010 Year Rnd 6 222.75$          891.00$          353.00$         1,412.00$      

6     Year Rnd 1 127.75$          511.00$          208.00$         832.00$         

7     MP1-020 Year Rnd 4 184.75$          739.00$          295.00$         1,180.00$      

8     MP1-020-A Year Rnd 3 165.75$          663.00$          266.00$         1,064.00$      

9     MP1-022 Seasonal 3 137.25$          549.00$          222.50$         890.00$         

10     MP1-025 Seasonal 4 146.75$          587.00$          237.00$         948.00$         

11     MP1-026 Seasonal 4 146.75$          587.00$          237.00$         948.00$         

12     MP1-027 Year Rnd 3 165.75$          663.00$          266.00$         1,064.00$      

13     MP1-028 Year Rnd 5 203.75$          815.00$          324.00$         1,296.00$      

14     MP1-036 Seasonal 1 118.25$          473.00$          193.50$         774.00$         

15     MP1-075 Seasonal 4 146.75$          587.00$          237.00$         948.00$         

16     MP1-076 Year Rnd 4 184.75$          739.00$          295.00$         1,180.00$      

17     MP1-077 Seasonal 4 146.75$          587.00$          237.00$         948.00$         

18     MP1-078 Seasonal 3 137.25$          549.00$          222.50$         890.00$         

19     Seasonal 1 118.25$          473.00$          193.50$         774.00$         

20     MP1-080 Seasonal 3 137.25$          549.00$          222.50$         890.00$         

21     MP1-088 Year Rnd 8 260.75$          1,043.00$       411.00$         1,644.00$      

22     MP1-090 Seasonal 4 146.75$          587.00$          237.00$         948.00$         

23     MP1-091 Seasonal 3 137.25$          549.00$          222.50$         890.00$         

24     MP1-092 Seasonal 4 146.75$          587.00$          237.00$         948.00$         

25     MP1-093 Seasonal 3 137.25$          549.00$          222.50$         890.00$         

26     MP1-096 Seasonal 4 146.75$          587.00$          237.00$         948.00$         

27     MP1-097 Seasonal 4 146.75$          587.00$          237.00$         948.00$         

28     MP1-107 Seasonal 5 156.25$          625.00$          251.50$         1,006.00$      

29     MP1-108 Seasonal 5 156.25$          625.00$          251.50$         1,006.00$      

30     MP1-098 Seasonal 3 137.25$          549.00$          222.50$         890.00$         

31     MP1-099 Year Rnd 6 222.75$          891.00$          353.00$         1,412.00$      

32     MP1-117 Year Rnd 3 165.75$          663.00$          266.00$         1,064.00$      

33     MP1-118 Year Rnd 2 146.75$          587.00$          237.00$         948.00$         

34     MP1-119 Year Rnd 2 146.75$          587.00$          237.00$         948.00$         

35     MP1-120 Seasonal 2 127.75$          511.00$          208.00$         832.00$         

Totals: 5,468.75$       21,875.00$     8,802.50$      35,210.00$    

Existing and Proposed Rate Structure Costs Per Customer
Town of Brunswick

Mere Point Waste Water System

Existing Annual Rate Structure:  $435 Fixed Charge per Customer, $38 per bedroom for seaonal property 
and $76 for year round property.
Proposed Annual Rate Structure:  $716 Fixed Charge per Customer, $58 per bedroom for seaonal 
property and $116 for year round property.
There are 13 year round properties with 50 bedrooms and 22 seasonal properties with 75 bedrooms.

Type Unit
Existing

Per Bd Rm 
Cost

2016 Br Total
Existing

2016 Fixed 
Charge

Existing
2016 Total 
Revenue

Seasonal 38.00$          75 ea.             435.00$         12,420.00$         

Year Round 76.00$          50 ea.             435.00$         9,455.00$           

125 ea.           21,875.00$         

Type Unit
Proposed
Per Bd Rm 

Cost
2016 Br Total

Proposed
2016 Fixed 

Charge

Proposed
2016 Total 
Revenue

Seasonal 58.00$          75 ea.             716.00$         20,102.00$         

Year Round 116.00$        50 ea.             716.00$         15,108.00$         

125 ea.           35,210.00$         

Year Round Properties 13  ea.
Seasonal Properties 22  ea.

35  ea.

Existing
Budget
Rates

Proposed
Budget
Rates



 

 

    Page 1 

ARTICLE III. – SEWER USE; IN‐GROUND  SEWAGE TREATMENT SYSTEMS 

DIVISION 1. ‐ GENERALLY  

Sec. 16‐51. ‐ Scope of article.  

The following provisions of this article are hereby established, which provisions shall be considered a 
part of the contract between the town and every person who uses in-ground sewage treatment systems of 
the town, and every such person by connecting or maintaining a connection of any premises with such 
systems shall be considered to express assent to be bound thereby.  

This article has been modelled after the Ordinance of the Brunswick Sewer District, as adopted on 
June 13, 1983 and amended on February 18, 1988.  

(Ord. of 7-6-93) 

Sec. 16‐52. ‐ Definitions.  

Unless the context specifically indicates otherwise, the meaning of terms used in these rules and 
regulations shall be as follows:  

Applicant shall mean any person requesting approval to discharge residential domestic sanitary 
wastewaters into facilities of the town.  

BOD (Biochemical Oxygen Demand) shall mean the quantity of oxygen utilized in the biochemical 
oxidation of the wastewater under standard laboratory procedure in five (5) days at twenty (20) degrees 
C, expressed in milligram per liter (mg/l).  

Building sewer shall mean the pipe which receives the wastewater from a building, beginning at the 
walls of a building and extending eight (8) feet to the beginning of the public sewer.  

Charter shall mean the Charter of the Town of Brunswick and all amending acts.  

Codes enforcement officer shall mean the Codes Enforcement Officer of the Town of Brunswick or 
his duly authorized representative.  

Director of public works shall mean the Director of Public Works of the Town of Brunswick or his duly 
authorized representative.  

Domestic sanitary wastewater shall mean residential domestic sanitary wastewater, that is, 
wastewater derived exclusively from sanitary conveniences in residential dwellings. It does not contain 
groundwater, surface water, or stormwater. It does not include any type of discharge from commercial or 
industrial buildings, sites or facilities, no matter whether the discharge is process, sanitary or unpolluted 
discharge. Discharges from buildings, sites, or facilities with a mixed residential and industrial/commercial 
use shall be considered industrial or commercial wastewater.  

E.P.A. shall mean the Environmental Protection Agency of the U.S. Government.  

Excessive shall mean amounts or concentrations of a constituent of a wastewater which in the 
opinion of the director of public works or manager will cause damage to any facility of the town, including, 
but not limited to constituents which will be harmful to a wastewater treatment process, which cannot be 
removed at the wastewater treatment plant to the degree required to meet applicable environmental or 
health-related standards, which can constitute a nuisance, or which can otherwise endanger public health 
or the facilities of the town.  

Facilities of the town shall mean all structures and sewers of the town used for collecting, pumping, 
treating or disposing of wastewater or wastes including all connected furnishings and appurtenances and 
any other machines and/or equipment used in carrying out its purposes.  



 

 

    Page 2 

Garbage shall mean the animal and vegetable wastes resulting from the handling, preparation, 
cooking, and serving of food. It is composed largely of putrescible organic matter and its natural moisture 
content.  

Industrial or commercial wastewater shall mean the wastewater from industrial or commercial 
establishments, including but not limited to, sanitary and process wastewaters from commercial or 
industrial buildings, sites or facilities. Discharges from buildings, sites or facilities with a mixed residential 
and industrial/commercial use shall be considered industrial or commercial wastewater.  

In-ground sewage treatment system shall mean all structures and equipment related to a subsurface 
treatment system owned by the town for treatment of domestic sanitary wastewaters, including, but not 
limited to, sewers, holding tanks, pumps, septic tanks, leach fields, and related equipment and machinery.  

Manager shall mean the Brunswick Town Manager.  

Owner shall mean any person which holds title to the property of a participating household.  

Participating household shall mean a residential household with a domestic sanitary wastewater 
discharge which has permission from the Town of Brunswick and any other necessary party to connect 
and maintain a connection to an in-ground sewage treatment system owned by the town.  

Person shall mean any individual, firm, company, corporation, association, society, group, trust, or 
governmental authority.  

pH shall mean the reciprocal of the logarithm (to the base ten) of the hydrogen ion concentration in 
grams per liter of solution.  

Properly shredded garbage shall mean garbage that has been shredded to such a degree that all 
particles will be carried freely under the flow conditions normally prevailing in public sewers with no 
particle greater than one-half inch (1.27 centimeters) in any dimension.  

Public sewer shall mean a sewer controlled by the Town of Brunswick, used to convey domestic 
sanitary wastewater from participating households to an in-ground sewage treatment system.  

Sea water shall mean water from tidal areas, regardless of its salinity, but shall not include waters 
from drilled or dug wells.  

Sewer shall mean a pipe or conduit for carrying domestic sanitary wastewater, to which rainwaters, 
surface or ground waters are not intentionally admitted.  

Shall is mandatory; May is permissive.  

Slug shall mean any discharge of water or wastewater which includes a concentration of any given 
constituent or a quantity of flow which exceeds for any period longer than fifteen (15) minutes, more than 
five (5) times the average twenty-four-hour concentration or flow during normal operation.  

Spill shall mean the release, accidental or otherwise, of any material not normally released to the 
facilities of the town, which by virtue of its volume, concentration or physical or chemical characteristics, 
creates a hazard to the facilities of the town, their operation or their personnel. Such characteristics shall 
include, but are not limited to materials or wastes listed in Division 2 of this article.  

Storm drain shall mean a pipe or conduit for carrying rainwater, groundwater, surface water, 
condensate, cooling water, or unpolluted water from any source.  

Superintendent shall mean the Superintendent of the Brunswick Sewer District or his duly authorized 
representative.  

Suspended solids shall mean total suspended matter that either floats on the surface of, or is in 
suspension in water, wastewater, or other liquids, and that is removable by laboratory filtering as 
prescribed in "Standard Methods for the Examination of Water and Wastewater" latest edition, and is 
referred to as nonfilterable residue.  

Town shall mean the Town of Brunswick, acting through its town council, town manager, or their duly 
authorized representatives.  



 

 

    Page 3 

Wastes shall mean substances in liquid, solid or gaseous form that can be carried in water.  

Wastewater shall mean the spent water of a community and may be a combination of the liquid and 
water-carried wastes from residences, commercial buildings, industrial plants, and institutions, together 
with any groundwater, surface water, and rainwater that may be present.  

Wastewater treatment plant shall mean the in-ground sewage treatment system and related facilities 
of the town serving the participating households, or the Brunswick Sewer District Wastewater Treatment 
Plant located on Pine Tree Drive, Brunswick.  

(Ord. of 7-6-93, Art. I) 

Secs. 16‐53—16‐60. ‐ Reserved.  

 

DIVISION 2. ‐ USE OF PUBLIC SEWERS  

Sec. 16‐61. ‐ Scope.  

This division regulates the use of the facilities of the town, including but not limited to, in-ground 
sewage treatment systems, building sewers, and/or wastewater treatment systems, and the discharge of 
waters and wastes into such facilities, and provides for penalties for the violations of this division.  

(Ord. of 7-6-93, Art. II, § 1) 

Sec. 16‐62. ‐ Permitted discharges.  

Only domestic sanitary wastewater, as defined in section 16-52, shall be discharged to in-ground 
sewage treatment facilities, building sewers or related facilities of the town.  

(Ord. of 7-6-93, Art. II, § 2) 

Sec. 16‐63. ‐ Prohibited discharges.  

Industrial or commercial wastewaters, as defined in section 16-52, shall not be discharged to in-
ground sewage treatment facilities, building sewers or related facilities of the town.  

(Ord. of 7-6-93, Art. II, § 3) 

Sec. 16‐64. ‐ Permit required.  

(a) There shall be no connection into a public sewer or any appurtenances thereof without a plumbing 
permit from the codes enforcement officer and approval of an entrance application from the Town of 
Brunswick.  

(b) Applications for permits to connect with or disconnect from any public sewer shall be made to the 
codes enforcement officer and the town on forms prescribed and furnished by them at their offices.  

(c) Applications for permits for sewer connections involving industrial or commercial wastewater will not 
be accepted.  



 

 

    Page 4 

(d) The permit applicant shall notify the codes enforcement officers when the building sewer is ready for 
inspection and connection to the public sewer. The connection shall be made under the direction of 
the town.  

(Ord. of 7-6-93, Art. II, § 4) 

Sec. 16‐65. ‐ Responsibility for connection costs.  

All costs and expenses incident to the installation and connection of the building sewer shall be 
borne by the owner. The owner shall indemnify the town from any loss or damage to facilities of the town 
or surrounding property that may be caused, directly or indirectly, by the installation of the building sewer.  

(Ord. of 7-6-93, Art. II, § 5) 

Sec. 16‐66. ‐ Building sewer jurisdiction.  

Building sewers connected to a public sewer are within the jurisdiction of the town and the provisions 
of this article apply to such building sewers.  

(Ord. of 7-6-93, Art. II, § 6) 

Sec. 16‐67. ‐ Construction methods and materials.  

The size, slope, alignment, materials of construction of a building sewer, and the methods to be used 
in excavating, placing of the pipe, jointing, testing, and backfilling the trench, shall all conform to the 
requirements of the Maine State Plumbing Code or other ordinances of the town.  

(Ord. of 7-6-93, Art. II, § 7) 

Sec. 16‐68. ‐ Connection of old building sewers.  

Old building sewers may be used in connection with new buildings only when they can be shown by 
the applicant to meet all requirements of this article.  

(Ord. of 7-6-93, Art. II, § 8) 

Sec. 16‐69. ‐ Lifting of wastewater required.  

Whenever possible, the building sewer shall be brought to the building at an elevation below the 
basement floor. In all buildings in which any plumbing fixtures are too low to permit gravity flow to the 
public sewer, wastewater originating from such fixtures shall be lifted by an approved means and 
discharged to the building sewer.  

(Ord. of 7-6-93, Art. II, § 9) 

Sec. 16‐70. ‐ Protection; restoration of property.  

All excavations for building sewer installation shall be adequately guarded with barricades and lights 
so as to protect the public from hazard. When it is necessary to disturb streets, sidewalks, parkways, and 



 

 

    Page 5 

other property in the course of the work, a permit is required by the town. The property shall be restored 
in a manner satisfactory to the town, after consulting with the owner of the property.  

(Ord. of 7-6-93, Art. II, § 10) 

Sec. 16‐71. ‐ Abandonment of service.  

No person shall dismantle or move any building having a service entrance into a public sewer 
without first obtaining an appropriate permit from the codes enforcement officer and notifying the codes 
enforcement officer. Before the building is dismantled or moved, the entrance of the service into such 
building shall be sealed with a watertight masonry plug. The plug shall be installed under the supervision 
of the town. If the building sewer is determined to be unserviceable by the town, the owner shall at his 
own expense remove such service and seal the opening at the entrance to the public sewer.  

(Ord. of 7-6-93, Art. II, § 11) 

Sec. 16‐72. ‐ Responsibility for building sewer repairs and maintenance.  

All costs and expenses incident to repairs and maintenance of the building sewer (from the wall of 
the building to a point five (5) feet from the building, at the beginning of the public sewer), shall be borne 
by the owner.  

(Ord. of 7-6-93, Art. II, § 12) 

Sec. 16‐73. ‐ Unpolluted water prohibited.  

No person shall discharge or cause to be discharged any rain water, surface water, groundwater, 
roof runoff, subsurface drainage, cooling water, or any wastewater other than residential domestic 
sanitary wastewater to any public sewer. Any person discharging unpolluted water shall be required to 
remove the unpolluted water from the public sewer at owner's expense.  

(Ord. of 7-6-93, Art. II, § 13) 

Sec. 16‐74. ‐ Harmful wastes prohibited.  

No person shall discharge or cause to be discharged into any public sewer, any of the below 
described substances, materials, wastes or wastewaters:  

(a) Wastewaters having a pH lower than 5.5 or higher than 9.5 or having any other corrosive 
property capable of causing damage or hazard to any facilities or personnel of the town.  

(b) Gasoline, benzene, naphtha, fuel oil, or other flammable or explosive liquid, solid, or gas.  

(c) Solid or viscous substances in such quantities or of such size to be capable of obstructing the 
flow in sewers, or interfering with the proper operation of the facilities of the town such as but 
not limited to: ashes, bones, cinders, sand, mud, straw, shavings, metal, glass, rags, feathers, 
tar, plastics, wood, underground garbage, whole blood, paunch manure, hair and fleshings, 
entrails and paper dishes, cups, milk containers, etc., either whole or ground by garbage 
grinders.  

(d) Any waters containing toxic or poisonous solids, liquids or gases in sufficient quantity, either 
singly or by interaction with other wastes, to interfere with any waste treatment process, 
constitute a hazard to humans or animals, create a public nuisance, or create any hazard in the 



 

 

    Page 6 

receiving soils of the in-ground sewage treatment system or related facilities of the town, or in 
Casco Bay.  

(e) Any sea water, regardless of its salinity (salt content). Sea water shall not be used for toilet 
flushing, even during power outages.  

(Ord. of 7-6-93, Art. II, § 14) 

Sec. 16‐75. ‐ Harmful wastes limited.  

The following described substances, materials, wastes or wastewaters shall be limited in discharges 
to public sewers to concentrations or quantities which are not excessive as defined in section 16-52. The 
town may set limitations lower than the limitations established below, if in its opinion such limitations are 
necessary to meet the objectives of this article.  

(a) Wastewater, liquid, or vapor having a temperature higher than one hundred fifty (150) degrees 
Fahrenheit (sixty-five (65) degrees C).  

(b) Garbage that has not been "properly shredded" as defined in this article. 

(c) Radioactive wastes or isotopes in excessive amounts or such half-life or concentration as may 
exceed limits established in applicable state or federal regulations or by the town.  

(d) Water or wastes which by interaction with other waters or wastes in the public sewer, release 
obnoxious gases or form suspended solids which interfere with or are harmful to facilities of the 
town or the treatment process.  

(e) Wastewaters containing: 

(1) An average concentration of suspended solids in excess of four hundred (400) mg/l or an 
average concentration of dissolved solids (such as, but not limited to, sodium chloride and 
sodium sulfate) in excess of six hundred (600) mg/l.  

(2) Materials which cause excessive discoloration (such as, but not limited to, dye wastes and 
vegetable tanning solutions).  

(3) An average concentration of BOD in excess of five hundred (500) mg/l or material which 
cause unusual chemical oxygen demand, or chlorine requirements.  

(4) Caustic alkalinity, calculated as CaCO3 (calcium carbonate) in excess of one hundred 
(100) mg/l.  

(5) Fats, wax, grease, or oils, whether emulsified or not, in excess of one hundred (100) mg/l 
or containing substances which may solidify or become viscous at temperatures between 
thirty-two (32) degrees Fahrenheit and one hundred fifty (150) degrees Fahrenheit (sixty-
five (65) degrees C).  

(6) Excessive amounts of iron, chromium, cadmium, copper, zinc, mercury, nickel, mineral 
acid, or similar objectionable or toxic substances.  

(7) Phenols or other taste or odor producing substances in excessive amounts. 

(8) Materials in such concentrations as to constitute a "slug" as defined in this article. 

(9) Materials which are not amenable to treatment or reduction by the wastewater treatment 
plant or are amenable to treatment only to such a limited degree that the wastewater 
treatment plant effluent can not meet the requirements of other agencies having jurisdiction 
over the town.  

(Ord. of 7-6-93, Art. II, § 15) 



 

 

    Page 7 

Sec. 16‐76. ‐ Control of wastewater strength.  

If any wastewaters or wastes are discharged, or are proposed to be discharged to the public sewers 
containing excessive substances or possessing characteristics included but not limited to those listed in 
Division 2 of this article, the town may do any or all of the following:  

(a) Reject the wastewaters or the wastes. 

(b) Require that pretreatment of wastewaters or wastes be provided to modify them to an 
acceptable condition for discharge to the public sewers.  

(c) Require control over the quantities and rates of discharge of the wastewaters or the wastes.  

(d) Require payment to cover the added costs of handling and treating the wastes under the 
provisions of Division 3 of this article.  

(Ord. of 7-6-93, Art. II, § 16) 

Sec. 16‐77. ‐ Waste characteristic change.  

Any person proposing a substantial change in the volume or character of wastewater as described in 
the sewer connection permit application that is being discharged into a public sewer shall notify the codes 
enforcement officer at least forty-five (45) days prior to the proposed change.  

(Ord. of 7-6-93, Art. II, § 17) 

Sec. 16‐78. ‐ Interceptors required.  

Grease, oil and sand interceptors shall be provided when, in the opinion of the town they are 
necessary for the proper handling of liquid wastes containing grease in excessive amounts, or any 
flammable wastes, sand, or other harmful ingredients. All interceptors shall be of a type and capacity 
approved by the town, and shall be located as to be easily accessible for cleaning and inspection. If 
required by the town, grease, oil, or sand interceptors shall be installed and maintained continuously in 
effective operating order by the owner at his expense. The town shall have the right to inspect such 
interceptors in accordance with Division 2 of this article.  

(Ord. of 7-6-93, Art. II, § 18) 

Sec. 16‐79. ‐ Control structure required.  

When required by the town, the owner of property served by a public sewer carrying wastes shall 
install a suitable control structure and wastewater flow measuring and monitoring device to carry out the 
purpose of this article. Such structure and measuring devices shall be constructed in accordance with 
plans submitted to and approved by the town. If required by the town, the structure and flow measuring 
device shall be installed and maintained continuously in effective operating order by the owner at his 
expense.  

(Ord. of 7-6-93, Art. II, § 19) 

Sec. 16‐80. ‐ Preliminary treatment facilities required.  

When required by the town, the owner of any property served by a public sewer shall provide 
preliminary treatment facilities to carry out the purpose of this article. Applications for pretreatment 
facilities are to be accompanied by plans, specifications and other pertinent information which must be 



 

 

    Page 8 

approved by the town prior to construction. When required by the town, all preliminary treatment facilities 
shall be installed and maintained continuously in effective operating order by the owner at his expense.  

(Ord. of 7-6-93, Art. II, § 20) 

Sec. 16‐81. ‐ Tampering prohibited.  

No person other than an authorized representative of the town shall open, close, tamper or damage 
any of the facilities of the town or the in-ground sewage treatment system.  

(Ord. of 7-6-93, Art. II, § 21) 

Sec. 16‐82. ‐ Town access to sewered property.  

The town shall have the right at all reasonable hours, after reasonable notice, to enter any property 
connected with the public sewer for the purpose of examining the property and sewer connections, to 
determine the purposes for which the sewer is used and the proper sewer use charges, and to enforce 
this article.  

(Ord. of 7-6-93, Art. II, § 22) 

Sec. 16‐83. ‐ Liability for violations.  

Any person violating any of the provisions of this article shall be liable to the town for any expense, 
loss or damage incurred, directly or indirectly, by the town due to such violation.  

(Ord. of 7-6-93, Art. II, § 20) 

Sec. 16‐84. ‐ Notice of violation required.  

Any person found to be in violation of any provision of this article shall be served by the town with a 
written notice stating the nature of the violation and providing a reasonable time limit, as determined by 
the town, for the satisfactory correction thereof. The offender shall, within the period of time stated in the 
notice, permanently cease all such violations. Alternatively, the town may correct such violation and 
charge all expenses thereof to the violator.  

(Ord. of 7-6-93, Art. II, § 24) 

Sec. 16‐85. ‐ Fine.  

Any person who continues any violation beyond the time limit provided for in Division 2 of this article 
may be liable to the town in an amount of up to one hundred dollars ($100.00) per day until such violation 
is corrected or abated.  

(Ord. of 7-6-93, Art. II, § 25) 

Secs. 16‐86—16‐100. ‐ Reserved.  

 



 

 

    Page 9 

DIVISION 3. ‐ SEWER USE CHARGES  

Sec. 16‐101. ‐ User charges established.  

The owner of a participating household discharging wastewater to a public sewer shall be subject to 
a sewer user charge. The user charge shall be based on the quantity and characteristics of the 
wastewater discharged to a public sewer.  

The town council shall, after public notice and hearing, establish reasonable user charges reflecting 
the actual costs of the operation and maintenance of the in-ground sewage treatment system and 
facilities of the town benefitting the participating households. In establishing the charges, the council may 
take into account any recommended user charges submitted by the participating households. The 
participating households may submit a recommended user charge, with explanation, annually to the 
council for its consideration.  The current schedule of user charges, which is published separately, shall 
be considered an integral part of this article. Sewer user charges will be billed in accordance with the 
Master Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, Appendix B to this Municipal Code of 
Ordinances. 

(Ord. of 7-6-93, Art. III, § 1) 

Sec. 16‐102. ‐ Unmetered sewer users.  

Charges for participating households which discharge domestic wastewater into the public sewer, 
where water is supplied from sources other than the Brunswick-Topsham Water District, shall beare 
established by accounting for both fixed and variable charges. The fixed charges are those common to all 
participating households and are divided equally among all participating households. The variable 
charges shall be based on an estimated amount of wastewater from each bedroom of a participating 
household connected to the public sewer. The current charges for unmetered participating households 
shall be listed in a rate schedule. Sewer user charges will be billed in accordance with the Master 
Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, Appendix B to this Municipal Code of Ordinances. 

(Ord. of 7-6-93, Art. III, § 2) 

Sec. 16‐103. ‐ Rates due from owner.  

All user charges are due from the owner of the participating household served by the public sewer 
and such owner shall be held responsible.  

(Ord. of 7-6-93, Art. III, § 3) 

Sec. 16‐104. ‐ Rates due quarterly.  

All user charges shall be due and payable at the office of the town quarterly. Failure of the owner of 
the participating household to receive his bill does not relieve him of the obligation of its payment.  

(Ord. of 7-6-93, Art. III, § 4) 

Sec. 16‐105. ‐ Late payment or nonpayment of rates.  

A late payment charge may be applied to user charge bills which remain unpaid for longer than thirty 
(30) days after the billing date. The late charge shall be one and one-half (1½) percent per month of the 
unpaid balance but not less than two dollars ($2.00) per bill. The town may also record a lien against the 



 

 

    Page 10 

property at the Cumberland County Registry of Deeds to secure payment of rates in accordance with the 
Charter. Such a lien constitutes a mortgage having priority over all other mortgages except those of 
taxes, and said mortgage automatically forecloses after eighteen (18) months after date of recording if not 
paid.  

(Ord. of 7-6-93, Art. III, § 5) 

Secs. 16‐106—16‐110. ‐ Reserved.  

 

DIVISION 4. ‐ NEW CONNECTIONS OR ENLARGEMENT OF USE  

Sec. 16‐111. ‐ Application of division.  

This division shall apply to all new construction of in-ground sewage treatment systems or 
extensions, expansions or additions of participating households to existing in-ground sewage treatment 
systems.  

(Ord. of 7-6-93, Art. IV) 

Sec. 16‐112. ‐ New connections or enlargement of use.  

Pending evaluation of the systems and their operation, there shall be no new connections of 
additional households to the in-ground sewerage treatment systems, and no participating household may 
add additional bedrooms. This provision is intended to allow for an orderly assessment of the quality of 
the system as constructed and its operations, and to assure that the system is fully functional before 
determining whether there may be any new or increased discharges. The capacity of the in-ground 
sewage treatment systems are designed on the basis of the number of bedrooms in each participating 
household and, therefore, the addition of new bedrooms within participating households during this 
assessment period must be prohibited.  

(Ord. of 7-6-93, Art. IV, § 1) 



 

 

    Page 1 

APPENDIX B MASTER SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, CHARGES, FEES AND FINES  

Reference  Date  Description  Amount 

Chapter 16—Utilities  

Sec. 16‐29   2/6/1989 

Violation of this article first offense/second and 

subsequent offenses within a 12‐month period of time, 

maximum fines  

$100.00/$250.00

Sec. 16‐85   7/6/1993 
Violation beyond time limit in division 2 of this article, 

maximum fine 
$100.00 per day

Sec. 16‐101 

Sec. 16‐102 
10/1/2016 

Annual fixed rate per property (billed quarterly) 

Annual variable rates per bedroom (billed quarterly): 

Seasonal property 

Year Round property 

$716 

 

$58 

$116 

  

(Ord. of 11-16-15(3); Ord. of 11-16-15(4); Ord. of 2-1-16(1); Ord. of 2-1-16(2); Ord. of 3-21-
16(2))  



 
 

TOWN OF BRUNSWICK 
NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 

 
 
The Town Council will hold a public hearing on Monday, August 15, 2016 at 7:00 p.m. in the Council 
Chambers of the Brunswick Town Hall, 85 Union Street, to consider amendments to the Town of 
Brunswick Municipal Code of Ordinances, Chapter 16, Article III: Sewer Use – In Ground Sewage 
Treatment Systems, and the Mere Point Wastewater District fees in the Master Schedule of 
Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, Appendix B to the Code of Ordinances.    
 
The text of the proposed amendments is too extensive to be included with this notice.  Anyone having 
questions about the proposed amendments wishing to obtain copies of it should contact the Brunswick 
Town Clerk's or Town Manager's Office during regular office hours Monday through Friday from 8:30 
a.m. to 4:30 p.m. 
 
INDIVIDUALS NEEDING AUXILIARY AIDS FOR EFFECTIVE COMMUNICATION PLEASE 
CONTACT THE TOWN MANAGER'S OFFICE AT 725-6659 (TDD 725-5521) 

 
 
Frances M. Smith 
Town Clerk of Brunswick, Maine 

 
__________, 2016 
 
 
Printed in the Times Record on ________, 2016 



 
 

 
ITEM 87 
BACK UP MATERIALS 



Town of Brunswick, Maine 
	

OFFICE	OF	THE	TOWN	MANAGER	
	

O:\Council\Council	By	Year\Council	2016\Memo	Freeport	Dispatch	Services	072616.docx	

MEMORANDUM	
	
TO:	 Town	Council	
	
FROM:	 John	Eldridge	
	 Town	Manager	
	
DATE:	 July	26,	2016	
	
SUBJECT:	 Interlocal	Cooperation	Agreement	to		
	 Provide	Emergency	Services	Dispatch	Services	to	Freeport			
	
	
	
In	June	2009,	the	Towns	of	Brunswick	and	Freeport	executed	an	Interlocal	Cooperation	Agreement	
by	which	Brunswick	provided	emergency	services	dispatch	to	Freeport	through	June	30,	2016.		The	
Town	Manager	of	Freeport	and	I	agreed	to	extend	the	dispatch	services	agreement	while	we	
considered	and	negotiated	a	five‐year	extension	of	that	agreement.		We	have	agreed	on	that	
extension	and	I	am	recommending	that	the	Town	Council	adopt	an	order	authorizing	me	to	execute	
an	Interlocal	Cooperation	Agreement	for	Brunswick	to	provide	dispatch	services	to	Freeport	
through	June	30,	2021.		A	copy	of	the	proposed	order	and	agreement	are	attached.		I	understand	the	
Freeport	Town	Council	will	consider	authorizing	the	extension	at	its	August	2nd	meeting.	
	
	
Attachments	



 

O:\Council\Council	Orders\Freeport	Dispatch	Order	080116.docx	

TOWN	OF	BRUNSWICK,	MAINE	
TOWN	COUNCIL	

	
An	Order	Authorizing	the	Town	Manager	to	Execute	An	

Interlocal	Cooperation	Agreement		
to	Provide	Emergency	Dispatch	Services	to	the	Town	of	Freeport	

	
	
WHEREAS,	Maine	law	permits	municipalities	and	political	subdivisions	to	enter	into	inter‐local	
cooperation	agreements	to	make	the	most	efficient	use	of	their	powers	and	to	cooperate	with	other	
municipalities	on	a	basis	of	mutual	advantage	and	thereby	to	provide	services	and	facilities	in	a	
manner	and	pursuant	to	forms	of	governmental	organization	that	will	accord	best	with	geographic,	
economic,	population	and	other	factors	influencing	the	needs	and	development	of	Maine	
communities;	and	
	
WHEREAS,	the	Town	of	Brunswick	(“Brunswick”)	and	Town	of	Freeport	(“Freeport”)	have	
determined	that	it	is	in	the	best	interest	of	their	residents	for	Brunswick	to	provide	emergency	
services	dispatch	services	to	Freeport;	and		
	
WHEREAS,	in	June	2009,	Brunswick	and	Freeport	executed	an	Interlocal	Cooperation	Agreement	
(the	“	2009	Agreement”)	by	which	Brunswick	provided	emergency	services	dispatch	services	for	six	
years,	ending	June	2016;	and		
	
WHEREAS,	the	town	managers	of	Brunswick	and	Freeport	agreed	to	extend	the	2009	Agreement	
until	a	formal	extension	could	be	negotiated	and	ratified	by	the	town	councils	of	Brunswick	and	
Freeport;	and		
	
WHEREAS,	the	town	managers	of	Brunswick	and	Freeport	have	negotiated	a	new	Interlocal	
Cooperation	Agreement	by	which	Brunswick	would	provide	emergency	services	dispatch	services	
through	June	30,	2021	and	have	recommended	that	the	respective	towns	approve	the	new	
agreement;	and	
	
WHEREAS,	the	Town	Manger	has	provided	a	copy	of	the	proposed	agreement	to	the	Town	Council;		
	
NOW	THEREFORE,	BE	IT	ORDERED	that	pursuant	to	the	authority	granted	by	30‐A	M.R.S.A.,	
Chapter	115	and	every	other	legal	authority,	the	Brunswick	Town	Council	authorizes	the	Town	
Manager	to	execute	an	Interlocal	Cooperation	Agreement	with	the	Town	of	Freeport	to	provide	
emergency	services	dispatch	services	to	the	Town	of	Freeport	through	June	30,	2021	on	the	terms	
outlined	in	the	proposed	agreement.	
	
BE	IT	FURTHER	ORDERED	that	the	Town	Manager	be	authorized	to	make	minor	modifications	to	
the	proposed	agreement	should	the	Town	Manager	deem	them	to	be	necessary	in	order	to	
substantially	meet	the	intent	of	the	terms	of	the	proposed	agreement.	
	
	
	
Proposed	to	Town	Council:	 August	1,	2016	
Adopted	by	Town	Council:	
	



____________	 Page	1	of	5	 ____________	
Brunswick	 	 Freeport	

INTERLOCAL	COOPERATION	AGREEMENT	
FOR	DISPATCH	SERVICES	

TOWNS	OF	BRUNSWICK	AND	FREEPORT	
	

	
Pursuant	to	the	provisions	of	30‐A	M.R.S.A.,	Chapter	115,	this	Interlocal	Cooperation	Agreement	
(this	"Agreement")	is	made	and	entered	into		effective	the	1st	day	of	July	2016,	by	and	between	the	
Town	of	Brunswick,	Maine	("Brunswick")	and	the	Town	of	Freeport,	Maine	("Freeport")	for	the	
provision	of	certain	dispatch	services	(the	"Dispatch	Services")	by	Brunswick	to	Freeport.	
	
WHEREAS,	Maine	law	permits	municipalities	and	political	subdivisions	to	enter	into	interlocal	
cooperation	agreements	to	make	the	most	efficient	use	of	their	powers	and	to	cooperate	with	other	
municipalities	on	a	basis	of	mutual	advantage	and	thereby	to	provide	services	and	facilities	in	a	
manner	and	pursuant	to	forms	of	governmental	organization	that	will	accord	best	with	geographic,	
economic,	population	and	other	factors	influencing	the	needs	and	development	of	Maine	
communities;	and	
	
WHEREAS,	the	respective	Town	Councils	of	Brunswick	and	Freeport	have	determined	that	it	is	in	
the	best	interest	of	their	residents	for	Brunswick	to	provide	Dispatch	Services	to	Freeport,	and	that	
an	appropriate	agreement	be	created	to	facilitate	the	terms	of	this	relationship.	
	
NOW,	THEREFORE,	pursuant	to	the	authority	granted	by	30‐A	M.R.S.A.,	Chapter	115	and	every	
other	legal	authority,	and	in	consideration	of	the	following	mutual	covenants	and	conditions	set	
forth	herein,	the	receipt	and	sufficiency	of	which	the	Parties	hereby	acknowledge,	the	Parties	
hereby	agree	as	follows:	
	
Section	1.		Description	of	Dispatch	Services	
	
A.		During	the	term	of	this	Agreement,	Brunswick	will	provide	Freeport	with	24‐hour	Dispatch	
Services.		Such	Dispatch	Services		shall	include	receiving	emergency	and	non‐emergency	calls,	
including	9‐1‐1	calls,	from	citizens,	visitors	and	responders	located	in	Freeport	and,	as	appropriate,	
directly	dispatching	emergency	response	services,	including	fire,	police,	ambulance	or	rescue	
services,	or	transferring	the	calls	to	public	or	private	safety	agencies	for	dispatch.		In	providing	
Dispatch	Services,	Brunswick	will	also	serve	as	a	warrant	repository	for	Freeport.	Brunswick	will	
treat	calls	originating	from	Freeport	with	equal	priority	as	calls	originating	from	Brunswick,	and	
dispatching	decisions	will	be	based	on	need,	without	regard	to	origin	of	the	call.	
	
B.		During	the	term	of	this	Agreement,	Brunswick	agrees	to	consult	with	Freeport	prior	to	making	
any	material	changes	to	the	Dispatch	Services	provided	to	Freeport	or	to	the	dispatch	facility	or	
facilities	through	which	such	Dispatch	Services	are	provided.	
	
C.		During	the	term	of	this	Agreement,	Brunswick	will	consult	with	the	Freeport	Police	Chief	on	all	
proposed	hires	by	Brunswick	of	employees	to	provide	Dispatch	Services,	provided	that	all	final	
hiring	decisions	will	be	made	by	Brunswick.	
	
D.		During	the	term	of	this	Agreement,	Brunswick	agrees	to	take	reasonable	efforts	to	ensure	that	all	
Brunswick	employees	providing	Dispatch	Services	to	Freeport	maintain	all	certification	
levels	required	by	the	State	of	Maine	for	the	functions	performed	by	such	employees.	
	
	 	



____________	 Page	2	of	5	 ____________	
Brunswick	 	 Freeport	

Section	2.		Operations	and	Fees	
	
A.		The	provision	of	all	Dispatch	Services	shall	be	under	Brunswick's	direct	control	and	supervision.		
No	separate	legal	or	administrative	entity	is	created	by	this	Agreement.		The	administrator	
responsible	for	administering	the	provision	of	Dispatch	Services	pursuant	to	this	Agreement	within	
the	meaning	of	30‐A	M.R.S.A.	§	2203(3)	is	and	shall	be	the	Brunswick	Chief	of	Police	who	shall	
consult	periodically	with	the	Freeport	Chief	of	Police	regarding	the	provision	of	Dispatch	Services	
to	Freeport.	
	
B.		The	cost	to	provide	Dispatch	Services,	including	the	cost	of	necessary	systems,	personnel,	
necessary	telephone	lines	and	services,	and	all	necessary	communications	and	other	equipment,	
shall	be	borne	by	Brunswick	except	as	otherwise	set	forth	herein	or	as	otherwise	agreed	to	by	the	
Parties.		All	equipment	and	facilities	will	be	owned	and	maintained	by	Brunswick,	and	Brunswick	
will	be	responsible	for	and	have	necessary	authority	to	acquire,	hold	and	dispose	of	real	and	
personal	property	used	to	provide	Dispatch	Services	pursuant	to	this	Agreement.	
	
C.		Freeport	shall	pay	Brunswick	a	monthly	fee	for	the	Dispatch	Services	provided	pursuant	to	this	
Agreement	(the	"Monthly	Dispatch	Services	Fee").		The	Monthly	Dispatch	Services	Fee	will	be	paid	
in	full	no	later	than	the	fifteenth	(15th)	day	of	the	applicable	month	for	which	payment	is	made,	
with	the	first	such	payment	due	July	15,	2016.		For	Dispatch	Services	provided	between	July	1,	2016	
and	June	30,	2021,	the	Monthly	Dispatch	Services	Fee	shall	be	eleven	thousand,	five	hundred	dollars	
($11,500).		The	Monthly	Dispatch	Services	Fee	shall	be	adjusted	annually	for,	effective	July	1,	2017	
and	each	July	1	thereafter,	by	three	percent	(3%);.	
	
Section	3.		Other	Agreements	
	
Nothing	in	this	agreement	is	intended	to	supplant	or	supersede	any	other	agreement	made	by	or	
between	Brunswick	and	Freeport,	nor	is	it	intended	to	preclude	either	community	from	requesting	
assistance	from	the	other	pursuant	to	any	existing	agreement	between	the	communities.	
	
Section	4.		Effective	Date	and	Term	
	
This	Agreement	will	be	effective	on	the	date	it	is	fully	executed	by	the	Parties.		The	Term	of	
provision	of	Dispatch	Services	pursuant	to	this	Agreement	is	five	(5)	years,	beginning	July	1,	2016	
and	ending	June	30,	2021.		Neither	Party	may	terminate	this	Agreement	without	cause.		Freeport	
may	terminate	this	Agreement	for	cause	by	providing	Brunswick	with	a	written	Notice	of	
Termination	at	least	six	(6)	months	prior	to	the	effective	date	of	termination,	unless	a	shorter	
period	of	notice	is	agreed	to	by	the	Parties,	with	the	termination	to	be	effective	on	the	last	day	of	the	
calendar	month	designated	in	the	Notice	of	Termination.	Any	termination	of	this	Agreement	shall	
not	terminate	any	duty	or	obligation	of	either	Party	that	arose	prior	to	the	effective	date	of	
termination,	including	but	not	limited	to	any	payment	obligation;	which	payment	obligation	shall	
be	pro‐rated	through	the	last	day	of	the	last	month	of	this	Agreement	in	which	the	termination	is	
effective.	
	
Section	5.		Defaults		and	Dispute	Resolution	
	
A.		In	the	event	Freeport	fails	to	pay	the	Monthly	Dispatch	Services	Fee	on	a	timely	basis,	which	
failure	to	pay	has	not	been	cured	within	thirty	(30)	days	after	Brunswick	delivers	a	written	notice	
of	default	to	Freeport,	Brunswick	may,	at	its	option,	terminate	this	Agreement	and/or	pursue	all	of	



____________	 Page	3	of	5	 ____________	
Brunswick	 	 Freeport	

its	remedies	at	law	to	recover	damages	associated	with	Freeport's	failure	to	pay,	including	recovery	
of	its	costs	of	collection,	including	reasonable	attorneys	fees.	
	
B.		In	the	event	of	any	dispute	between	the	Parties	hereto	regarding	the	performance	of	either	Party	
under	this	Agreement	or	as	to	the	determination	of	any	rights	or	obligations	or	entitlements	arising	
from	or	related	to	this	Agreement,	other	than	a	dispute	involving	a	failure	to	pay	the	Capital	
Payment	or	a	Monthly	Services	Fee,	the	Parties	shall	refer	the	matter	to	their	duly	authorized	Town	
Managers	for	resolution.	Should	such	Town	Managers	fail	to	resolve	the	dispute	within	thirty	(30)	
days	from	such	referral,	the	Parties	agree	that	any	such	dispute	will	be	referred	to	binding	
arbitration	in	Portland,	Maine.	Either	Party	may	give	notice	in	writing	to	the	other	of	its	desire	to	
submit	the	dispute	to	arbitration,	and	may	designate	an	arbitrator.	Within	fifteen	(15)	days	after	
the	receipt	of	such	notice,	the	other	Party	may,	in	writing,	serve	upon	the	Party	invoking	such	
arbitration,	a	notice	designating	an	arbitrator	on	its	behalf.	The	two	arbitrators	so	chosen	shall	
within	fifteen	(15)	days	after	the	appointment	of	the	second	arbitrator,	in	writing,	designate	a	third	
arbitrator.		Upon	the	failure	of	the	Party	notified	to	appoint	the	second	arbitrator	within	such	time,	
the	Party	invoking	such	arbitration	may	proceed	with	the	single	arbitrator.	No	arbitrator,	whether	
chosen	by	a	Party	hereto	or	appointed,	shall	have	the	power	to	amend	or	add	to	this	Agreement.	
The	arbitrator	or	arbitrators	shall,	thereupon,	proceed	promptly	to	hear	and	determine	the	
controversy	pursuant	to	the	then	current	rules	of	the	American	Arbitration	Association	for	the	
conduct	of	commercial	arbitration	proceedings,	except	that	if	such	rules	shall	conflict	with	the	then	
current	provisions	of	the	laws	of	the	State	of	Maine	relating	to	arbitration,	such	conflict	shall	be	
governed	by	the	then	current	provisions	of	the	laws	of	the	State	of	Maine	relating	to	arbitration.	
Such	arbitrator	or	arbitrators	shall	fix	a	time	within	which	the	matter	shall	be	submitted	to	him	or	
them	by	either	or	both	of	the	Parties,	and	shall	make	his	or	their	decision,	within	ten	(10)	days	after	
the	final	submission	to	him	or	them	unless,	for	good	reasons	to	be	certified	by	him	or	them	in	
writing,	he	or	they	shall	extend	such	time.	The	decision	of	the	single	arbitrator,	or	two	of	the	three	
arbitrators,	shall	be	taken	as	the	arbitration	decision.	Such	decision	shall	be	made	in	writing	and	in	
duplicate,	and	one	copy	shall	be	delivered	to	each	of	the	Parties.	The	arbitrator	or	arbitrators	by	his	
or	their	award	shall	determine	manner	in	which	the	expense	of	the	arbitration	shall	be	borne,	
except	that	each	Party	shall	pay	the	costs	of	its	own	counsel.	Each	Party	shall	accept	and	abide	by	
the	decision.	The	award	of	the	arbitral	tribunal	shall	be	final	except	as	otherwise	provided	by	
applicable	law.	Judgment	upon	such	award	may	be	entered	by	the	prevailing	Party	in	any	court	with	
jurisdiction,	or	application	may	be	made	by	such	Party	to	any	such	court	for	judicial	acceptance	of	
such	award	and	an	order	of	enforcement.	No	dispute	shall	interfere	with	the	Parties'	continued	
fulfillment	of	their	obligations	under	this	Agreement	pending	the	decision	of	the	Arbitrators.	
	
Section	6.		Miscellaneous	
	
A.		Brunswick	agrees	to	work	with	representatives	of	Bustins	Island	in	good	faith	in	an	effort	to	
identify	and	implement	a	workable	and	acceptable	solution	to	Bustins	Island's	emergency	response	
needs.	
	
B.		In	the	provision	of	Dispatch	Services	to	Freeport,	Brunswick	and	its	agents	and	employees	retain	
all	of	the	immunities	available	at	law.	
	
C.		Neither	Party	shall	be	considered	to	be	in	default	of	its	obligations	under	this	Agreement	if	the	
Party's	failure	to	perform	is	caused	by	one	or	more	events,	conditions,	or	circumstances	beyond	the	
Party's	reasonable	control	and	that	by	exercise	of	reasonable	diligence	the	Party	is	unable	to	
prevent	or	overcome,	including	without	limitation,	storm,	flood,	lightning,	earthquake,	explosion,	
civil	disturbance,	labor	dispute,	sabotage,	terrorism,	war,	insurrection,	act	of	God	or	the	public	



____________	 Page	4	of	5	 ____________	
Brunswick	 	 Freeport	

enemy,	equipment	failures	which	require	lengthy	repair	or	replacement	of	equipment,	labor	or	
material	shortage,	and	action	or	inaction	by,	or	failure	to	obtain	the	necessary	authorizations	or	
approvals	from,	any	governmental	agency	or	authority	(a	"Force	Majeure"	event).	Any	obligation	to	
pay	an	amount	otherwise	owed	may	not	be	excused	by	Force	Majeure.		If	either	Party	is	rendered	
wholly	or	partly	unable	to	perform	its	obligations	hereunder	because	of	Force	Majeure	as	defined	
above,	that	Party	shall	be	excused	from	whatever	performance	is	affected	by	the	Force	Majeure	to	
the	extent	so	affected,	provided	that:	(i)	the	non‐performing	Party	will,	as	soon	as	practicable	after	
the	occurrence	of	Force	Majeure,	give	the	other	Party	written	notice	describing	the	particulars	of	
the	occurrence;	(ii)	the	suspension	of	performance	shall	be	of	no	greater	scope	and	of	no	longer	
duration	than	is	reasonably	required	by	the	Force	Majeure;	and	(iii)	the	non‐performing	Party	shall	
use	due	diligence	to	remedy	its	inability	to	perform.	
	
D.		Neither	Party	may	assign	its	rights	or	obligations	under	this	Agreement	without	the	express	
written	consent	of	the	other	Party.	
	
E		The	Parties	agree	that	nothing	contained	herein	is	intended	to	be	or	should	be	construed	in	any	
manner	as	creating	or	establishing	the	relationship	of	co‐partners	between	the	Parties	hereto	or	as	
constituting	an	agency	relationship	in	any	manner	whatsoever.		The	individual	Parties	are	and	shall	
remain	independent	entities	with	respect	to	all	Dispatch	Services	provided	under	this	Agreement.		
Each	Party	represents	that	it	has,	or	will	secure	all	its	expense,	all	personnel	required	in	performing	
its	service	obligation	under	this	Agreement	and	that	the	acts	of	its	employees	performing	the	
service	under	this	Agreement	shall	be	the	acts	of	employees	of	that	entity	alone.		Each	Party	agrees	
that	in	the	performance	of	its	obligations,	its	employees	shall	not	require	nor	be	entitled	to	any	
compensation,	rights	or	benefits	of	any	kind	whatsoever	from	the	other	Party	to	this	Agreement,	
including,	but	not	limited	to,	tenure	rights,	medical	and	hospital	care,	sick	and	vacation	leave,	
disability,	Worker's	Compensation,	Unemployment		Compensation	or	severance	pay.	
	
F.		This	Agreement	constitutes	the	entire	understanding	between	the	Parties	hereto	with	respect	to	
the	subject	matter	hereof,	supersedes	any	and	all	previous	understandings	between	the	Parties	
with	respect	to	the	subject	matter	hereof,	and	binds	and	inures	to	the	benefit	of	the	Parties,	their	
successors	and	permitted	assigns.		Any	alteration	or	amendment	or	modification	of	this	Agreement	
shall	be	valid	only	if	set	forth	in	writing	and	signed	by	duly	authorized	representatives	of	both	
Parties.	
	
G.		The	invalidity	or	unenforceability	of	any	provisions	of	this	Agreement	shall	not	affect	the	other	
provisions	hereof.	If	any	provision	of	this	Agreement	is	held	to	be	invalid,	such	provision	shall	be	
severable	from	this	Agreement	and	will	not	affect	the	validity	of	the	remaining	portions	of	this	
Agreement.		If	necessary	to	preserve	the	intent	of	the	Parties	hereto,	the	Parties	shall	negotiate	in	
good	faith	to	amend	this	Agreement,	adopting	a	substitute	provision	for	the	one	deemed	invalid	or	
unenforceable	that	is	legally	binding	and	enforceable.	
	
H.		A	waiver	of	any	term	or	condition	of	this	Agreement	must	be	in	writing	and	signed	by	the	
waiving	Party.	Any	express	or	implied	waiver	of	a	term	or	condition	of	this	Agreement	shall	apply	
only	to	the	specific	act,	occurrence	or	omission	and	shall	not	constitute	a	waiver	as	to	any	other	
term	or	condition	or	future	act,	occurrence	or	omission.	
	
I.		This	Agreement	shall	be	governed	exclusively	by	the	laws	of	State	of	Maine.		The	venue	for	any	
legal	action	brought	by	any	Party	arising	out	of	or	pursuant	to	this	Agreement	shall	be	the	
Cumberland	County	Superior	Court	in	Portland,	Maine.	
	



____________	 Page	5	of	5	 ____________	
Brunswick	 	 Freeport	

	
IN	WITNESS	WHEREOF,	and	intending	to	be	legally	bound	hereby,	the	Parties	hereto	have	caused	
this	Agreement	to	be	duly	executed	by	their	respective	duly	authorized	Town	Managers.	
	
	
For	the	Town	of	Brunswick:	 	 	 	 For	the	Town	of	Freeport:	
	
____________________________________________________	 	 ____________________________________________________	
John	Eldridge	 	 	 	 	 	 Peter	Joseph	
Town	Manager		 	 	 	 	 Town	Manager	
	
Date_______________________________________________		 Date_______________________________________________	



____________	 Page	1	of	5	 ____________	
Brunswick	 	 Freeport	

INTERLOCAL	COOPERATION	AGREEMENT	
FOR	DISPATCH	SERVICES	

TOWNS	OF	BRUNSWICK	AND	FREEPORT	
	

	
Pursuant	to	the	provisions	of	30‐A	M.R.S.A.,	Chapter	115,	this	Interlocal	Cooperation	Agreement	
(this	"Agreement")	is	made	and	entered	into	as	of	effective	the	1st	day	of	July	2016,	by	and	between	
the	Town	of	Brunswick,	Maine	("Brunswick")	and	the	Town	of	Freeport,	Maine	("Freeport")	for	the	
provision	of	certain	dispatch	services	(the	"Dispatch	Services")	by	Brunswick	to	Freeport.	
	
WHEREAS,	Maine	law	permits	municipalities	and	political	subdivisions	to	enter	into	interlocal	
cooperation	agreements	to	make	the	most	efficient	use	of	their	powers	and	to	cooperate	with	other	
municipalities	on	a	basis	of	mutual	advantage	and	thereby	to	provide	services	and	facilities	in	a	
manner	and	pursuant	to	forms	of	governmental	organization	that	will	accord	best	with	geographic,	
economic,	population	and	other	factors	influencing	the	needs	and	development	of	Maine	
communities;	and	
	
WHEREAS,	the	respective	Town	Councils	of	Brunswick	and	Freeport	have	determined	that	it	is	in	
the	best	interest	of	their	residents	for	Brunswick	to	provide	Dispatch	Services	to	Freeport,	and	that	
an	appropriate	agreement	be	created	to	facilitate	the	terms	of	this	relationship.	
	
NOW,	THEREFORE,	pursuant	to	the	authority	granted	by	30‐A	M.R.S.A.,	Chapter	115	and	every	
other	legal	authority,	and	in	consideration	of	the	following	mutual	covenants	and	conditions	set	
forth	herein,	the	receipt	and	sufficiency	of	which	the	Parties	hereby	acknowledge,	the	Parties	
hereby	agree	as	follows:	
	
Section	1.		Description	of	Dispatch	Services	
	
A.		During	the	term	of	this	Agreement,	Brunswick	will	provide	Freeport	with	24‐hour	Dispatch	
Services.		Such	Dispatch	Services		shall	include	receiving	emergency	and	non‐emergency	calls,	
including	9‐1‐1	calls,	from	citizens,	visitors	and	responders	located	in	Freeport	and,	as	appropriate,	
directly	dispatching	emergency	response	services,	including	fire,	police,	ambulance	or	rescue	
services,	or	transferring	the	calls	to	public	or	private	safety	agencies	for	dispatch.		In	providing	
Dispatch	Services,	Brunswick	will	also	serve	as	a	warrant	repository	for	Freeport.	Brunswick	will	
treat	calls	originating	from	Freeport	with	equal	priority	as	calls	originating	from	Brunswick,	and	
dispatching	decisions	will	be	based	on	need,	without	regard	to	origin	of	the	call.	
	
B.		During	the	term	of	this	Agreement,	Brunswick	agrees	to	consult	with	Freeport	prior	to	making	
any	material	changes	to	the	Dispatch	Services	provided	to	Freeport	or	to	the	dispatch	facility	or	
facilities	through	which	such	Dispatch	Services	are	provided.	
	
C.		During	the	term	of	this	Agreement,	Brunswick	will	consult	with	the	Freeport	Police	Chief	on	all	
proposed	hires	by	Brunswick	of	employees	to	provide	Dispatch	Services,	provided	that	all	final	
hiring	decisions	will	be	made	by	Brunswick.	
	
D.		During	the	term	of	this	Agreement,	Brunswick	agrees	to	take	reasonable	efforts	to	ensure	that	all	
Brunswick	employees	providing	Dispatch	Services	to	Freeport	maintain	all	certification	
levels	required	by	the	State	of	Maine	for	the	functions	performed	by	such	employees.	
	
	 	



____________	 Page	2	of	5	 ____________	
Brunswick	 	 Freeport	

Section	2.		Operations	and	Fees	
	
A.		The	provision	of	all	Dispatch	Services	shall	be	under	Brunswick's	direct	control	and	supervision.		
No	separate	legal	or	administrative	entity	is	created	by	this	Agreement.		The	administrator	
responsible	for	administering	the	provision	of	Dispatch	Services	pursuant	to	this	Agreement	within	
the	meaning	of	30‐A	M.R.S.A.	§	2203(3)	is	and	shall	be	the	Brunswick	Chief	of	Police	who	shall	
consult	periodically	with	the	Freeport	Chief	of	Police	regarding	the	provision	of	Dispatch	Services	
to	Freeport.	
	
B.		The	cost	to	provide	Dispatch	Services,	including	the	cost	of	necessary	systems,	personnel,	
necessary	telephone	lines	and	services,	and	all	necessary	communications	and	other	equipment,	
shall	be	borne	by	Brunswick	except	as	otherwise	set	forth	herein	or	as	otherwise	agreed	to	by	the	
Parties.		All	equipment	and	facilities	will	be	owned	and	maintained	by	Brunswick,	and	Brunswick	
will	be	responsible	for	and	have	necessary	authority	to	acquire,	hold	and	dispose	of	real	and	
personal	property	used	to	provide	Dispatch	Services	pursuant	to	this	Agreement.	
	
C.		Freeport	will	pay	Brunswick,	on	or	before	July	1,	2010,	a	one‐time	capital	payment	(the	"Capital	
Payment")	of	$122,500.		In	the	event	Brunswick	terminates	this	Agreement	without	cause	pursuant	
to	Section	4	herein	on	or	before	July	1,	2016,	Brunswick	will	reimburse	Freeport	for	a	portion	of	the	
Capital	Payment	(the	"Reimbursement").			The	amount	of	the	Reimbursement	shall	be	calculated	as	
the	product	of	the	Capital	Payment	times	a	fraction,	the	denominator	of	which	is	72	and	the	
numerator	of	which	is	the	number	of	calendar	months	remaining	between	the	effective	date	of	
termination	and	June	30,	2016.	
DC.		Freeport	shall	pay	Brunswick	a	monthly	fee	for	the	Dispatch	Services	provided	pursuant	to	this	
Agreement	(the	"Monthly	Dispatch	Services	Fee").		The	Monthly	Dispatch	Services	Fee	will	be	paid	
in	full	no	later	than	the	fifteenth	(15th)	day	of	the	applicable	month	for	which	payment	is	made,	
with	the	first	such	payment	due	July	15,	20102016.		For	Dispatch	Services	provided	between	July	1,	
2010	2016	and	June	30,	20112021,	the	Monthly	Dispatch	Services	Fee	shall	be	ten	thousandeleven	
thousand,	five	hundred	dollars	($10,000$11,500).		In	the	event	Freeport	begins	receiving	Dispatch	
Services	from	Brunswick	after	July	1,	2010,	the	Monthly	Dispatch	Services	Fee	will	be	prorated	for	
partial	months	beginning	on	the	date	Freeport	begins	receiving	Dispatch	Services	from	Brunswick.		
Provided	Freeport	begins	receiving	Dispatch	Services	by	December	31,	2010,	the	The	Monthly	
Dispatch	Services	Fee	shall	be	adjusted	annually	for	inflation,	effective	July	1,	2011	2017	and	each	
July	1	thereafter,	by	either	of	the	following,	as	Freeport	shall	elect:		1)	three	percent	(3%);	and	2)	
any	positive	actual	annual	inflation	rate	for	the	prior	calendar	year	calculated	by	using	the	
Consumer	Price	Index	‐	All	Urban	Consumers	(CPI‐U)	as	compiled	by	the	Bureau	of	Labor	Statistics.	
	
Section	3.		Other	Agreements	
	
Nothing	in	this	agreement	is	intended	to	supplant	or	supersede	any	other	agreement	made	by	or	
between	Brunswick	and	Freeport,	nor	is	it	intended	to	preclude	either	community	from	requesting	
assistance	from	the	other	pursuant	to	any	existing	agreement	between	the	communities.	
	
Section	4.		Effective	Date	and	Term	
	
This	Agreement	will	be	effective	on	the	date	it	is	fully	executed	by	the	Parties.		The	Term	of	
provision	of	Dispatch	Services	pursuant	to	this	Agreement	is	six	five	(5)	years,	beginning	July	1,	
20160	and	ending	June	30,	20216.		Neither	Party	may	terminate	this	Agreement	without	cause.		
Freeport	may	terminate	this	Agreement	for	cause	by	providing	Brunswick	with	a	written	Notice	of	
Termination	at	least	six	(6)	months	prior	to	the	effective	date	of	termination,	unless	a	shorter	



____________	 Page	3	of	5	 ____________	
Brunswick	 	 Freeport	

period	of	notice	is	agreed	to	by	the	Parties,	with	the	termination	to	be	effective	on	the	last	day	of	the	
calendar	month	designated	in	the	Notice	of	Termination.	Any	termination	of	this	Agreement	shall	
not	terminate	any	duty	or	obligation	of	either	Party	that	arose	prior	to	the	effective	date	of	
termination,	including	but	not	limited	to	any	payment	obligation;	which	payment	obligation	shall	
be	pro‐rated	through	the	last	day	of	the	last	month	of	this	Agreement	in	which	the	termination	is	
effective.	
	
Section	5.		Defaults		and	Dispute	Resolution	
	
A.		In	the	event	Freeport	fails	to	pay	the	Capital	Payment	or	a	Monthly	Dispatch	Services	Fee	on	a	
timely	basis,	which	failure	to	pay	has	not	been	cured	within	thirty	(30)	days	after	Brunswick	
delivers	a	written	notice	of	default	to	Freeport,	Brunswick	may,	at	its	option,	terminate	this	
Agreement	and/or	pursue	all	of	its	remedies	at	law	to	recover	damages	associated	with	Freeport's	
failure	to	pay,	including	recovery	of	its	costs	of	collection,	including	reasonable	attorneys	fees.	
	
B.		In	the	event	of	any	dispute	between	the	Parties	hereto	regarding	the	performance	of	either	Party	
under	this	Agreement	or	as	to	the	determination	of	any	rights	or	obligations	or	entitlements	arising	
from	or	related	to	this	Agreement,	other	than	a	dispute	involving	a	failure	to	pay	the	Capital	
Payment	or	a	Monthly	Services	Fee,	the	Parties	shall	refer	the	matter	to	their	duly	authorized	Town	
Managers	for	resolution.	Should	such	Town	Managers	fail	to	resolve	the	dispute	within	thirty	(30)	
days	from	such	referral,	the	Parties	agree	that	any	such	dispute	will	be	referred	to	binding	
arbitration	in	Portland,	Maine.	Either	Party	may	give	notice	in	writing	to	the	other	of	its	desire	to	
submit	the	dispute	to	arbitration,	and	may	designate	an	arbitrator.	Within	fifteen	(15)	days	after	
the	receipt	of	such	notice,	the	other	Party	may,	in	writing,	serve	upon	the	Party	invoking	such	
arbitration,	a	notice	designating	an	arbitrator	on	its	behalf.	The	two	arbitrators	so	chosen	shall	
within	fifteen	(15)	days	after	the	appointment	of	the	second	arbitrator,	in	writing,	designate	a	third	
arbitrator.		Upon	the	failure	of	the	Party	notified	to	appoint	the	second	arbitrator	within	such	time,	
the	Party	invoking	such	arbitration	may	proceed	with	the	single	arbitrator.	No	arbitrator,	whether	
chosen	by	a	Party	hereto	or	appointed,	shall	have	the	power	to	amend	or	add	to	this	Agreement.	
The	arbitrator	or	arbitrators	shall,	thereupon,	proceed	promptly	to	hear	and	determine	the	
controversy	pursuant	to	the	then	current	rules	of	the	American	Arbitration	Association	for	the	
conduct	of	commercial	arbitration	proceedings,	except	that	if	such	rules	shall	conflict	with	the	then	
current	provisions	of	the	laws	of	the	State	of	Maine	relating	to	arbitration,	such	conflict	shall	be	
governed	by	the	then	current	provisions	of	the	laws	of	the	State	of	Maine	relating	to	arbitration.	
Such	arbitrator	or	arbitrators	shall	fix	a	time	within	which	the	matter	shall	be	submitted	to	him	or	
them	by	either	or	both	of	the	Parties,	and	shall	make	his	or	their	decision,	within	ten	(10)	days	after	
the	final	submission	to	him	or	them	unless,	for	good	reasons	to	be	certified	by	him	or	them	in	
writing,	he	or	they	shall	extend	such	time.	The	decision	of	the	single	arbitrator,	or	two	of	the	three	
arbitrators,	shall	be	taken	as	the	arbitration	decision.	Such	decision	shall	be	made	in	writing	and	in	
duplicate,	and	one	copy	shall	be	delivered	to	each	of	the	Parties.	The	arbitrator	or	arbitrators	by	his	
or	their	award	shall	determine	manner	in	which	the	expense	of	the	arbitration	shall	be	borne,	
except	that	each	Party	shall	pay	the	costs	of	its	own	counsel.	Each	Party	shall	accept	and	abide	by	
the	decision.	The	award	of	the	arbitral	tribunal	shall	be	final	except	as	otherwise	provided	by	
applicable	law.	Judgment	upon	such	award	may	be	entered	by	the	prevailing	Party	in	any	court	with	
jurisdiction,	or	application	may	be	made	by	such	Party	to	any	such	court	for	judicial	acceptance	of	
such	award	and	an	order	of	enforcement.	No	dispute	shall	interfere	with	the	Parties'	continued	
fulfillment	of	their	obligations	under	this	Agreement	pending	the	decision	of	the	Arbitrators.	
	 	



____________	 Page	4	of	5	 ____________	
Brunswick	 	 Freeport	

	
Section	6.		Miscellaneous	
A.		Freeport	will	make	its	best	efforts	to	recover	from	Cumberland	County,	Freeport's	share	of	an	
existing	federal	grant	obtained	by	Cumberland	County	for	consolidation	of	dispatch	services,	said	
Freeport	share	being	estimated	as	$34,000	(the	"Freeport	Grant	Share").		If	Freeport	is	successful	in	
recovering	any	or	all	of	the	Freeport	Grant	Share,	Freeport	will	pay	to	Brunswick	one	half	of	the	
funds	received,	with	payment	to	be	made	within	twenty	(20)	days	of	receipt.	
	
B.		Brunswick	agrees	that	qualified	Freeport	dispatch	personnel	employed	by	Freeport	on	the	
effective	date	of	this	Agreement	will	be	given	priority	in	the	hiring	by	Brunswick	of	dispatch	
personnel.	
	
AC.		Brunswick	agrees	to	work	with	representatives	of	Bustins	Island	in	good	faith	in	an	effort	to	
identify	and	implement	a	workable	and	acceptable	solution	to	Bustins	Island's	emergency	response	
needs.	
	
BD.		In	the	provision	of	Dispatch	Services	to	Freeport,	Brunswick	and	its	agents	and	employees	
retain	all	of	the	immunities	available	at	law.	
	
EC.		Neither	Party	shall	be	considered	to	be	in	default	of	its	obligations	under	this	Agreement	if	the	
Party's	failure	to	perform	is	caused	by	one	or	more	events,	conditions,	or	circumstances	beyond	the	
Party's	reasonable	control	and	that	by	exercise	of	reasonable	diligence	the	Party	is	unable	to	
prevent	or	overcome,	including	without	limitation,	storm,	flood,	lightning,	earthquake,	explosion,	
civil	disturbance,	labor	dispute,	sabotage,	terrorism,	war,	insurrection,	act	of	God	or	the	public	
enemy,	equipment	failures	which	require	lengthy	repair	or	replacement	of	equipment,	labor	or	
material	shortage,	and	action	or	inaction	by,	or	failure	to	obtain	the	necessary	authorizations	or	
approvals	from,	any	governmental	agency	or	authority	(a	"Force	Majeure"	event).	Any	obligation	to	
pay	an	amount	otherwise	owed	may	not	be	excused	by	Force	Majeure.		If	either	Party	is	rendered	
wholly	or	partly	unable	to	perform	its	obligations	hereunder	because	of	Force	Majeure	as	defined	
above,	that	Party	shall	be	excused	from	whatever	performance	is	affected	by	the	Force	Majeure	to	
the	extent	so	affected,	provided	that:	(i)	the	non‐performing	Party	will,	as	soon	as	practicable	after	
the	occurrence	of	Force	Majeure,	give	the	other	Party	written	notice	describing	the	particulars	of	
the	occurrence;	(ii)	the	suspension	of	performance	shall	be	of	no	greater	scope	and	of	no	longer	
duration	than	is	reasonably	required	by	the	Force	Majeure;	and	(iii)	the	non‐performing	Party	shall	
use	due	diligence	to	remedy	its	inability	to	perform.	
	
FD.		Neither	Party	may	assign	its	rights	or	obligations	under	this	Agreement	without	the	express	
written	consent	of	the	other	Party.	
	
G		E		The	Parties	agree	that	nothing	contained	herein	is	intended	to	be	or	should	be	construed	in	
any	manner	as	creating	or	establishing	the	relationship	of	co‐partners	between	the	Parties	hereto	
or	as	constituting	an	agency	relationship	in	any	manner	whatsoever.		The	individual	Parties	are	and	
shall	remain	independent	entities	with	respect	to	all	Dispatch	Services	provided	under	this	
Agreement.		Each	Party	represents	that	it	has,	or	will	secure	all	its	expense,	all	personnel	required	
in	performing	its	service	obligation	under	this	Agreement	and	that	the	acts	of	its	employees	
performing	the	service	under	this	Agreement	shall	be	the	acts	of	employees	of	that	entity	alone.		
Each	Party	agrees	that	in	the	performance	of	its	obligations,	its	employees	shall	not	require	nor	be	
entitled	to	any	compensation,	rights	or	benefits	of	any	kind	whatsoever	from	the	other	Party	to	this	
Agreement,	including,	but	not	limited	to,	tenure	rights,	medical	and	hospital	care,	sick	and	vacation	
leave,	disability,	Worker's	Compensation,	Unemployment		Compensation	or	severance	pay.	



____________	 Page	5	of	5	 ____________	
Brunswick	 	 Freeport	

	
HF.		This	Agreement	constitutes	the	entire	understanding	between	the	Parties	hereto	with	respect	
to	the	subject	matter	hereof,	supersedes	any	and	all	previous	understandings	between	the	Parties	
with	respect	to	the	subject	matter	hereof,	and	binds	and	inures	to	the	benefit	of	the	Parties,	their	
successors	and	permitted	assigns.		Any	alteration	or	amendment	or	modification	of	this	Agreement	
shall	be	valid	only	if	set	forth	in	writing	and	signed	by	duly	authorized	representatives	of	both	
Parties.	
	
GI.		The	invalidity	or	unenforceability		of	any	provisions	of	this	Agreement	shall	not	affect	the	other	
provisions	hereof.	If	any	provision	of	this	Agreement	is	held	to	be	invalid,	such	provision	shall	be	
severable	from	this	Agreement	and	will	not	affect	the	validity	of	the	remaining	portions	of	this	
Agreement.		If	necessary	to	preserve	the	intent	of	the	Parties	hereto,	the	Parties	shall	negotiate	in	
good	faith	to	amend	this	Agreement,	adopting	a	substitute	provision	for	the	one	deemed	invalid	or	
unenforceable	that	is	legally	binding	and	enforceable.	
	
JH.		A	waiver	of	any	term	or	condition	of	this	Agreement	must	be	in	writing	and	signed	by	the	
waiving	Party.	Any	express	or	implied	waiver	of	a	term	or	condition	of	this	Agreement	shall	apply	
only	to	the	specific	act,	occurrence	or	omission	and	shall	not	constitute	a	waiver	as	to	any	other	
term	or	condition	or	future	act,	occurrence	or	omission.	
	
IK.		This	Agreement	shall	be	governed	exclusively	by	the	laws	of	State	of	Maine.		The	venue	for	any	
legal	action	brought	by	any	Party	arising	out	of	or	pursuant	to	this	Agreement	shall	be	the	
Cumberland	County	Superior	Court	in	Portland,	Maine.	
	
	
IN	WITNESS	WHEREOF,	and	intending	to	be	legally	bound	hereby,	the	Parties	hereto	have	caused	
this	Agreement	to	be	duly	executed	by	their	respective	duly	authorized	Town	Managers.	
	
	
For	the	Town	of	Brunswick:	 	 	 	 For	the	Town	of	Freeport:	
	
____________________________________________________	 	 ____________________________________________________	
John	Eldridge	 	 	 	 	 	 Peter	Joseph	
Town	Manager		 	 	 	 	 Town	Manager	
	
Date_______________________________________________		 Date_______________________________________________	



 
 

 
ITEM 88 
BACK UP MATERIALS 



Town of Brunswick, Maine 
 

OFFICE OF THE TOWN MANAGER 
 

O:\Council\Council By Year\Council 2016\Memo MMA Election items 080116.docx 

MEMORANDUM 
 
TO: Town Council 
 
FROM: John Eldridge 
 Town Manager 
 
DATE: July 28, 2016 
 
SUBJECT: MMA Elections - Agenda items 88, 89 and 90 
 
 
 
Below is a brief summary of items for agenda items 88, 89 and 90 concerning MMA elections. 
 
Item 88:   
 
This item requests that the Council appoint a Brunswick representative to the MMA Legislative 
Policy Committee.  The LPC meets once a month in Augusta during each legislative session and 
meets at least once or twice a year for the purpose of developing the Association’s legislative 
agenda. 
 
Item 89: 
 
The Town Council will have an opportunity to vote for a representative to serve on the MMA 
Legislative Policy Committee (LPC) for 2016-2018.  The Council may vote for the candidate 
listed on the ballot or a write-in candidate who is willing to serve if elected.  The deadline for 
returning the ballot is 5:00 pm August 5, 2016. 
 
Item 90: 
 
The Town Council will have an opportunity to vote on the annual election of the  proposed 
MMA Vice President and municipal officials to serve on the Executive Committee.  The 
Nominating Committee has reviewed nominations and conducted interviews, and have put forth 
a Proposed Slate of Nominees for 2017. 
 
 













 
 

 
ITEM 89 
BACK UP MATERIALS 









 
 

 
ITEM 90 
BACK UP MATERIALS 













 
 

 
ITEM 91 
BACK UP MATERIALS 







 

DAC PURPOSE – per 2016-06-02 BOS resolution 

 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED: To ensure that the final design of the new bridge best meets 

both the State’s responsibility to meet the public’s transportation needs, and incorporates, to the 

degree that is financially feasible, the aesthetic and functional needs and preferences of 

Topsham and Brunswick, we will appoint, jointly with Brunswick, a Design Advisory 

Committee to work with the Maine Department of Transportation to optimize the final design 

for the new bridge. 

 

MEMBERSHIP 

LAST FIRST Town COMMITTEE-BOARD 

Bennett                  Doug Topsham Lower Village Development Committee 

Howard                    Jim Topsham Lower Village Development Committee  

Langelo                Victor Topsham Topsham Community Fund 

Randolph             Nancy Topsham SaveOurSwingingBridge.org 

Smart                     Gary Topsham Historical District Commission  

Spann                     Don Topsham Topsham Development, Inc. 

Van Note       Bruce Topsham Planning Board 

Carroll Ann Topsham Residential representative 

Lamb Cathy Both Towns At Large - Riverwalk Committee (chair) 

 

 

MEETING SCHEDULE - 6pm in the Donald Russell Meeting Room   

   

MON 06-27  Organizational meeting    

WED 07-20  Invited input from: Summer Street   

MON 08-22   Invited input from: bike/ped    

WED 09-14  Invited input from: TBD    

WED 10-12  Invited input from: TBD    

WED 11-09  Invited input from: TBD   

WED 12-07  Invited input from: TBD   

 

 

§106 PROCESS 

 

Citizen’s Guide:  http://www.achp.gov/docs/CitizenGuide.pdf    

Contacts: 

Cassandra Chase: US-DOT Cassandra.chase@dot.gov    (207) 512-4921    

Kristen Chamberlain: MaineDOT  Kristen.Chamberlain@maine.gov    (207) 557-5089 

http://www.achp.gov/docs/CitizenGuide.pdf
mailto:Cassandra.chase@dot.gov
mailto:Kristen.Chamberlain@maine.gov


DESIGN ADVISORY COMMITTEE (DAC)    5:30pm 2016-07-20 

Topsham Town Office, Donald Russell Meeting Room 

        

 

ATTENDING  

 DAC:  Doug Bennett, Victor Langelo, Nancy Randolph, Gary Smart, Don Spann & 

Bruce Van Note   Absent: Jim Howard 

 Staff:   John Shattuck 

 

CALL TO ORDER 5:35pm 

 The Committee welcomed its newest member, Ann Carroll.  Ann was appointed by the 

Selectmen at their 2016-07-07 meeting as a representative of riverside Summer Street 

neighborhood, which is comprised of the Topsham residences most likely to be impacted 

by any changes to the bridge. 

 

MINUTES 

 VOTED:  On a motion by Don Spann and a second by Nancy Randolph, the Committee 

voted unanimously (Ann Carroll abstaining) to approve/amend minutes of last meeting 

on: 2016-06-27 

 

ROLE OF DAC 

 Chair Bruce Van Note noted the DAC mission remains focused on recommendations for 

the design of a new bridge, but also remarked that while a new bridge is currently 

MDOT’s preferred alternative, no final decision regarding replacement or rehabilitation 

has yet been made by MDOT. 

 At Bruce’s request, John updated the Committee regarding Brunswick’s appointments to 

the DAC.  John reported that Brunswick has not yet appointed representatives to either 

the DAC or the §106 process.  Because the DAC will benefit from having input from 

Brunswick residents, businesses and other constituencies, Bruce asked for the 

Committees thoughts on contacting the Brunswick Council respectfully requesting that 

they appoint Brunswick representatives. 

 VOTED:  On a motion by Nancy Randolph, and a second by Doug Bennett, the 

Committee voted unanimously to authorize the Chair to send a letter to the Brunswick 

council respectfully requesting that they appoint Brunswick representatives to the DAC 

or, if no appointments are made, to provide guidance regarding whom the DAC should 

contact for informal input.  

 By consensus, the Committee agreed to move the start time of future meetings to 6pm. 

 

REVIEW & PRIORITIZATION OF DESIGN ISSUES 

 After discussion by the full Committee, the following list of design issues or goals was 

adopted by consensus for further consideration.  Next steps in developing 

recommendations will include prioritizing the goals and seeking input from MDOT 

regarding the methods for, or barriers to, dealing with these issues. 

 



o Traffic & roadway function 

 Traffic calming – speed control 

 Road and traffic noise 

 Headlight glare mitigation 

 Economic impacts: bridge should function as a Main Street for our 

businesses and not like not a fast bypass 

o Bicyclists & pedestrians 

 Bike paths 

 Sidewalk width 

 Interior crash barrier 

 Location & enhancement of crosswalk at both ends – pedestrian underpass 

in Topsham 

 Access to river edge – eg: for fishing 

 Handicapped accessibility 

o Aesthetics, environmental & memorialization 

 Appearance of the bridge from the shore 

 Paint color for steel 

 Style of light poles – Brunswick & Topsham styles differ 

 Memorialization of bridge/site history, including possible park at old 

abutment 

 Bridge name: deferred for later consideration 

 Incorporation of art, photography 

 

REVIEW OF STAKEHOLDERS & OUTREACH 

 Summer Street residents 

 Bicyclists & pedestrians  

o Merrymeeting Wheelers, Bicycle Coalition of Maine, Brunswick Bike-Ped 

Advisory Committee, Riverwalk Committee, handicapped access advocates 

 Brunswick residents, businesses and other constituencies 

 Business owners on or near Main/Maine Streets 

 Historic organizations 

 Town officials: Public Works, Public Safety, Managers 

 Architects, landscape architects & artists 

 

 

STAKEHOLDER INPUT SESSION: SUMMER STREET RESIDENTS 

 The following Summer Street residents shared their suggestions and concerns with the 

Committee: 

o Maynard McCorkle 

o Claudia McCorkle 

o Jodie Moore 

o Allison Brigham 

o Charles Carroll 



 The following is a summary of their comments, arranged by topic: 

o Proposed location/alignment of new bridge 

 Proposed new bridge covers lower falls, which should be left fully exposed 

and visible 

 Lower falls are last vestiges of Pejepscot Falls, which attracted early use and 

settlements by both Native Americans and Europeans 

 Lower falls are part of the area’s historical birthright 

 Covering lower falls could adversely affect birds that nest and fish in the 

area 

 Covering lower falls ruins upstream view, which is the interesting 

perspective – little of interest in the downstream view 

 Request renderings showing view of bridge from different on-shore 

perspectives 

 Upstream alignment will adversely affect Summer Street residents – 

especially in connection with view, road noise & glare 

 Proposed location will be subject to greater hydraulic stress 

 Water will be closer to bottom off the bridge at proposed location 

 Stay as close as possible to location of existing bridge 

o Road function 

 Proposed design is too wide and will encourage higher speeds 

 Sidewalk does not need to be wider 

 Second sidewalk is not needed 

 Observatory bump-outs are not needed 

 There needs to be a barrier between the travel lane and the sidewalk 

 

 

INFORMATION TO BE RQUESTED FROM MDOT – per Committee & public 

comments 

 Depth/height of supporting structural steed understructure 

 Total height of bridge from bottom of substructure to top of deck/sidewalk, and top of 

railing 

 Elevation of bottom of new bridge superstructure in relation to bottom of  old bridge, 

 Plan view of new bridge showing ledge, electric pole, and proposed abutments in relation 

to existing improvements 

 Vertical clearance from 100 and 500 year storm river elevation to bottom of the proposed 

and existing bridges 

 Hydrological report 

 

 

ADJOURNED: 7:10pm 

 

 



 

 

Frank	Wood	Bridge	
Design	Advisory	Committee	
Brunswick	Representatives	

(Proposed)	
	
	
	
Village	Review	Board	 	 	 	 Gary	Massanek,	Chair	
Planning	Board		 	 	 	 Sande	Updegraph,	Board	member	
Brunswick	Downtown	Association	 	 Deb	King,	Ex.	Director	(Claudia	Knox)	
Brunswick	Public	Art	 	 	 	 Natasha	Goldman,	Board	member	
Bike‐Ped	Advisory	Committee		 	 Will	Wilkoff,	Co‐Chair	
Master	Plan	Implementation	Committee	 Margo	Knight,	Chair	
Recreation	Commission		 	 	 Mike	Lyne,	Vice	Chair	
Brunswick	Development	Corporation	 	


	Agenda - Aug 1, 2016
	Agenda Packet - Aug 1, 2016
	Agenda - Aug 1, 2016
	Agenda Packet - Aug 1, 2016
	ca a  yes
	ca a minutes July 18, 2016
	mr a  yes
	MR a Open Projects - Council List 072816
	mr b  no
	mr c  no
	85 YES
	85 Ambulance fees memo to TM 072016
	86 YES
	86 MPWW packet for TC 080116
	87 YES
	87  Freeport Dispatch Services 072616
	88 YES
	88 a Memo MMA Election items 080116
	88 MMA LPC appointment
	89 YES
	89 MMA Legislative Policy Ballot area rep
	90 YES
	90 MMA VP and Exec Comm Members


	91 DAC LT Brunswick Council.pdf
	91 DAC LT Brunswick Council
	91 a Frank Wood Bridge  DAC




